# **Aviva Private Clients**

Your Ultra High Net Worth Home Insurance Policy - France





## Contents

- 3 About your policy
- 8 Complaints
- 9 How to claim
- 12 Definitions
- 15 General exclusions
- 17 General conditions
- 18 Your buildings
- 21 Your contents
- 24 Your valuables
- 27 Your liability
- 31 Your property emergencies
- 33 Your personal emergencies
- 38 Natural Disaster Cover
- 39 Terrorism Cover
- 40 Technological Risks Cover

## About your policy

# This policy wording details the protection we provide.

#### Defined terms used in this section

Defined terms used in this section
buildings
collectibles
domestic employees
endorsement
excess
fine art
home
loss
occurrence
period of insurance
policy
residence
schedule
subsidence
valuables
we/us/our
you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

#### The contract between us

This policy is a contract of insurance between you and us.

The following elements form the contract of insurance between you and us, please read them and keep them safe:

- your policy wording;
- information contained on your Statement of Fact document as issued by us and any additional questionnaire(s);
- your schedule;
- any endorsements on your policy, as set out in your schedule;
- any changes to your home insurance policy contained in notices issued by us at renewal;
- Your important information document.

In return for you paying your premium, we will provide the cover shown on your schedule on the terms and conditions of this policy booklet during the period of insurance

Our provision of insurance under this policy is conditional upon you observing and fulfilling the terms, provisions, conditions and clauses of this policy.

#### Reading this policy

Please read this policy carefully and make sure that it meets your needs. If any corrections are necessary, or you require clarification, you should contact your insurance adviser who arranged this policy. If you wish to increase or add elements of cover to this policy, you should also contact your insurance adviser.

Please keep this policy in a safe place – you may need to refer to it if you have to make a claim.

#### Defined terms

Certain terms, including 'you' and 'we', have special meanings in this document. You can find them listed in Definitions (page 12). You can also find a list at the start of each section, showing the defined terms in that section.

#### Accessibility

Please ask your insurance adviser who arranged this policy if you need accessible versions of this policy and its associated documents, including Insurance Product Information Document (IPID). We can provide them in braille, audio or large print.

# Telephone call charges and recording

Calls to 0800 numbers from UK landlines and mobiles are free. The cost of calls to 03 prefixed numbers are charged at national call rates (charges may vary dependent on your network provider) and are usually included in inclusive minute plans from landlines and mobiles. For our joint protection telephone calls may be recorded and/or monitored.

# Alerting you to important information

Action alerts: these teal boxes draw your attention to important actions you need to take, either to maintain your cover or in the event of a claim.

Attention alerts: these orange boxes draw your attention to terms which limit your cover.

#### The right to cancel

#### Personal information

If you have questions or concerns regarding the way in which your personal information has been used, please contact DATAPRT@aviva.com.

We are committed to working with you to obtain a fair resolution of any complaint or concern about privacy. If, however, you believe that we have not been able to assist with your complaint or concern, you have the right to make a complaint to the relevant Data Protection Authority.

For more information about how we process your personal information, please see our full privacy notice in the Important Information document provided by us.

# YOUR CONTRACT OF INSURANCE WILL LAST FOR THE 12 MONTH PERIOD SHOWN ON YOUR SCHEDULE.

You can cancel the policy provided by Aviva at any time by contacting your insurance adviser at the address shown on your schedule.

#### Your right to cancel

#### During the cooling-off period

You have a statutory right to cancel your policy within 14 days from the day of purchase or renewal of the contract or the day on which you receive the policy or renewal documentation, whichever is the later.

If you wish to cancel and your cover hasn't started you will be entitled to a full refund of the premium paid.

If you cancel after your cover has started, the refund you will receive will depend on the reason for cancellation:

- if you are cancelling because you have discovered that you already have insurance covering the same risk, we will refund you the full premium paid provided you have not made a claim
- for any other reason, we'll refund the full premium paid less a proportionate deduction for the time we've provided cover, unless you have made a claim

within the period of insurance, in which case you will not be entitled to a refund and the full annual premium is due.

If you don't exercise your right to cancel, your policy will continue, and you will be required to pay the premium.

#### After the cooling-off period

In addition to your statutory rights you can cancel the policy provided by Aviva at any time by contacting your insurance adviser at the address shown on your schedule.

There may be a charge for doing this, please see 'Will I get a premium refund?' opposite.

If this policy is cancelled or not renewed by either you or us, you should cancel any direct debit arrangements.

#### Our right to cancel

We or any agent we have authorised to do so may cancel your policy provided by Aviva if:

 you don't pay your premium when it's due (including non-payment of instalments). If you don't pay the first premium your policy will not be valid. If you miss a payment after that we'll give you 30 days' notice of our intention to suspend the policy. If we have not received payment by the end of this 30 day period, we will give you at least 10 further days' notice in writing if we intend to cancel due to non-payment of instalments. If we don't receive payment by then we will cancel the policy from the date shown on the letter:

- there has been a change to the risk (see the "Changes we need to know about" section for more information).
- we reasonably suspect fraud;
- you don't co-operate with us or give us information or documentation we ask for, and this affects our ability to process a claim or defend our interests;
- you have not given complete and accurate answers to the questions we ask.

Where we cancel, we'll always give you at least 10 days' notice by post or email to the last address you've given us and tell you the reason why.

#### Will I get a premium refund?

If your policy is cancelled before the cover starts we'll refund the premium you've paid for the cancelled cover.

If your policy or an additional cover is cancelled after cover has started we'll refund you for any days left which you've already paid for, unless you have made a claim within the period of insurance, in which case you will not be entitled to a refund and the full annual premium is due.

#### Information about us

Cover under Your buildings, Your contents, Your valuables, Your liability, Your property emergencies and Your personal emergencies will be provided, as set out in your schedule:

Risks situated within the EEA are underwritten by Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company. Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company, trading as Aviva, is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. Our firm's reference number is No. C171485. A private company limited by shares. Registered in Ireland, No. 605769. Registered Office: Cherrywood Business Park, Dublin, Ireland, D18 W2P5. Registered UK Branch Address: 80 Fenchurch Street, London, EC3M 4AE. UK Branch authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA reference No. 827591) and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Details about the extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on request.

You can check this information on the Financial Conduct Authority's website at www.fca.org.uk or the Central Bank of Ireland's website at www.centralbank.ie, which includes a register of all the firms they regulate.

#### Insurance guarantee schemes

# Where Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company is your insurer

Depending upon where in the EEA you and/or the insured risk is located there may be a local scheme that applies. Where a scheme is available in an EEA member state it may cover only limited types of insurance although some jurisdictions have wider schemes. If you have any questions, please contact us.

#### Other legal matters

#### Law and jurisdiction

The parties are free to choose the law applicable to this policy. Unless specifically agreed to the contrary this policy shall be governed by French law and subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of France.

#### Language

The parties agree that the language of this policy and all communications relating to it will be in English.

#### Currency

All monetary amounts stated in this policy are expressed in Pounds Sterling.

#### Sanctions and export controls

We shall not provide any benefit under this contract of insurance:

- to the extent of providing cover, payment of any claim or the provision of any benefit where doing so would breach any United Kingdom, European Union, United States of America or United Nations sanction, prohibition or restriction imposed by law or regulation; or
- which relates to the supply or movement from one country to any embargoed territory listed by the United Kingdom, European Union, United States of America or United Nations of controlled goods, military goods or dual use goods, including rifles, shotguns and antique fire arms.

#### Information you have given us

# Take care to give us the right information

When we ask you any questions or ask for information, you must take care to provide accurate and complete information.

This is because in deciding to accept this policy, and in setting the terms including the premium, we have relied upon the information which you have provided to us.

# What if you give incorrect information?

WHERE THERE IS FALSE DECLARATION, RELUCTANCE, OMISSION OR INACCURACY WE MAY:

- IF BAD FAITH IS PROVEN, RENDER THE CONTRACT NULL AND VOID (ARTICLE L. 113-8 OF THE INSURANCE CODE)
- IF THE BAD FAITH IS NOT PROVEN WE CAN REDUCE THE AMOUNT WE PAY ON ANY CLAIM IN THE PROPORTION THAT THE PREMIUM YOU HAVE PAID BEARS TO THE PREMIUM WE WOULD HAVE CHARGED YOU IF ALL RISKS HAD BEEN FULLY AND ACCURATELY DECLARED (ARTICLE L. 113-9 OF THE INSURANCE CODE)
- WHERE NO CLAIM HAS YET BEEN MADE, WE RETAIN THE RIGHT TO CONTINUE WITH THE POLICY BUT INCREASE THE PREMIUM

SUBJECT TO YOUR ACCEPTANCE, OR TERMINATE THE POLICY 10 DAYS AFTER NOTIFYING YOU IN WRITING OF INTENTION TO TERMINATE. WHERE THE POLICY IS TERMINATED WE WILL REFUND THE PREMIUM MINUS ANY TIME SPENT ON COVER.

#### **FRAUD**

IF YOU, OR ANYONE ACTING FOR YOU, MAKES A FRAUDULENT CLAIM, FOR EXAMPLE A LOSS WHICH IS FRAUDULENTLY CAUSED AND/OR EXAGGERATED AND/OR SUPPORTED BY A FRAUDULENT STATEMENT OR OTHER DEVICE:

- 1 WE WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO PAY THE CLAIM; AND
- 2 WE MAY RECOVER FROM YOU ANY SUMS PAID BY US TO YOU IN RESPECT OF THE CLAIM; AND
- 3 WE MAY BY NOTICE TO YOU TREAT THIS POLICY AS HAVING BEEN TERMINATED WITH EFFECT FROM THE TIME OF THE FRAUDULENT ACT.

IF WE EXERCISE OUR RIGHT UNDER 3 ABOVE:

WE SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO YOU
 IN RESPECT OF A RELEVANT EVENT
 WHICH HAPPENS AFTER THE
 TIME OF THE FRAUDULENT ACT.
 A RELEVANT EVENT IS WHATEVER

GIVES RISE TO OUR LIABILITY UNDER THIS POLICY (SUCH AS THE OCCURRENCE OF A LOSS, THE MAKING OF A CLAIM, OR THE NOTIFICATION OF A POTENTIAL CLAIM); AND

• WE NEED NOT RETURN ANY OF THE PREMIUM PAID.

# Changes we need to know about

You are obliged to declare, during the course of the contract, any new circumstances which have the effect either of aggravating the risks or of creating new ones and which thereby render inaccurate or null and void the answers given by you.

#### What to tell us about

Examples of changes you must tell us about include the following:

# If your home is, or is likely to be, unoccupied

Tell us if your home has not been permanently lived in, or is unlikely to be lived in, for 60 consecutive days, unless regularly attended by domestic employees or a property management company under a written contract. They must visit no less than once every 14 days. Their visit must include both internal and external checks.

# If there is a change of use or occupancy at your residence

Tell us if there is, or is likely to be, a change of use or change in occupancy at your residence, such as the letting of a building (either partially or fully).

#### **Bankruptcy**

Tell us if you are made bankrupt and/or enter into an individual voluntary agreement.

#### **Building work**

TELL US ABOUT ANY BUILDING WORK THAT IS INTENDED TO TAKE PLACE AT A RESIDENCE COVERED BY THIS POLICY, WHICH IS ESTIMATED TO COST MORE THAN £500,000. IN THESE CIRCUMSTANCES, YOU MUST NOTIFY US OF THE WORKS AT LEAST 30 DAYS BEFORE THEY COMMENCE, OR BEFORE ENTERING INTO ANY CONTRACT IN RELATION TO THE BUILDING WORK, WHICHEVER IS EARLIER.

# Changes to security or fire protection arrangements

Tell us if any changes are made to the security or fire protection arrangements relating to your residence.

#### **Criminal offences**

Tell us if you are charged with, or convicted of, any criminal offence (other than motoring offences or spent convictions).

#### Deterioration of your buildings

Tell us if the physical state of your buildings deteriorates in any way, including where there is evidence of subsidence

#### $Loaning\,your\,valuables$

TELL US IF YOU INTEND TO LOAN
ANY OF YOUR VALUABLES WHICH
COLLECTIVELY OR INDIVIDUALLY HAVE
A TOTAL VALUE IN EXCESS OF:

- £10,000,000 IN RESPECT OF FINE ART OR COLLECTIBLES; OR
- £750,000 IN RESPECT OF ANY OTHER VALUABLE ITEM.

#### How a change may affect your policy

When we are notified of a change, we will tell you if this affects your policy.

For example, we may:

- cancel this policy in accordance with the provisions in The right to cancel (page 4); or
- amend the terms of this policy so that the amended terms are effective from the time of the change; and/or
- require you to pay more for this policy from the time of the change. If you do not agree to the increased premium within 30 days of our notification to you, we may cancel the contract.

If you do not tell us about a change, it may affect any claim you make or could result in your insurance being invalid.

If you are in doubt about whether you need to tell us about a change you should contact the insurance adviser who arranged this policy.

### Complaints

We hope you won't need this page, and will do our utmost to make sure you don't.

We are dedicated to providing a high quality service and we want to ensure that we maintain this at all times. If you have any questions or concerns about this policy or the handling of a claim, please contact the insurance adviser who arranged this policy.

If you wish to make a complaint in relation to your insurance policy, you can do so at any time by referring the matter to your insurance adviser or by contacting Aviva Insurance Limited at:

Complaints Manager Aviva Insurance Limited PO Box 78, Surrey Street, Norwich NR1 3EB

Email: ukgiceo@aviva.com

Telephone from within the United Kingdom: 0800 092 7713 or, from outside the United Kingdom: Telephone: +44 (0) 1603 606653

#### Referral to ombudsman services

If you remain dissatisfied or you have not received a final decision within 8 weeks, you can refer your complaint to the relevant ombudsman service:

Please refer your complaint to:

Financial Services and Pensions Ombudsman, Lincoln House, Lincoln Place, Dublin 2, D02 VH29

Telephone: +353 1 567 7000

Email: info@fspo.ie

The European Commission also provides an online dispute resolution (ODR) platform that allows consumers to submit their complaint through a central site, which will forward the complaint to the right Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) scheme. For more information about ODR including the Financial dispute resolution network (FIN-NET) please visit http://ec.europa.eu/odr

#### How to claim

If you need to make a claim, you'll have our full support at every step. We're open 24/7.

This section does not apply to Your legal solutions and Your home breakdown and emergency solutions. If you need to make a claim under these sections please refer to page xx and page xx.

IN THE EVENT OF FAILURE OR DELAY IN MAKING A DECLARATION, THE INSURED MAY LOSE ALL OR PART OF HIS OR HER RIGHTS TO COVER FOR THE LOSS INSOFAR AS THE INSURER PROVES THAT THIS FAILURE, WHICH IS NOT ATTRIBUTABLE TO AN ACT OF GOD OR FORCE MAJEURE, HAS CAUSED IT A PREJUDICE (ARTICLE L. 113-2 OF THE INSURANCE CODE).

IF YOU OR ANY PERSON ENTITLED
TO COVER UNDER THIS POLICY
MAKES A FALSE DECLARATION IN
CONNECTION WITH THE DATE,
CAUSES, CIRCUMSTANCES, OR
CONSEQUENCES OF A CLAIM OR
KNOWINGLY USES INACCURATE
DOCUMENTATION TO SUPPORT
THEIR CLAIM THE INSURED WILL
FORFEIT THEIR RIGHTS AND WE WILL
BE ENTITLED TO REFUSE TO DEAL
WITH YOUR CLAIM.

#### Defined terms used in this section

amount insured
close relation
contents
damage
injury
legal claim
loss
marketvalue
medical practitioner
occurrence
policy
United Kingdom
we/us/our
you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

#### **Contacting us**

You can call us at any time.

#### Concierge Desk

Our dedicated Concierge Desk is open 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

From within the United Kingdom: 0800 056 2579

From outside the United Kingdom: +44 (0) 160 360 6635

Or email us at: conciergehome@aviva.com

#### If a crime has been committed:

- call the police; and
- get a crime number; and
- give us the crime number.

#### **Submitting your claim**

You must tell us as soon as practicably possible of any incident or circumstance which may lead to a claim under this policy, or if you need in-patient treatment under Your travel (page xx).

You will need to provide us with a detailed account of what has happened including details of any loss or damage or legal claim.

It will help if you make detailed notes at the time, and take photographs of any damage.

#### Supporting the claims process

You can support your claim in a number of ways, depending on the situation.

You must make any damaged property available to us for inspection as often as we need.

You must co-operate with us in your defence by:

- helping us to make settlements; and
- attending hearings and trials.

Where we request it, you must enforce any right of contribution or reimbursement against any person or organisation who may be liable.

We may ask for independent medical examinations in relation to any claim under this policy.

#### If there is damage or injury

As well as helping you with your claim, we are also there to help you deal with the aftermath, whether this is damage to property, or injuries to you or injuries to others.

For immediate help, our dedicated Concierge Desk is open 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Telephone from within the United Kingdom: 0800 056 2579

Telephone from outside the United Kingdom: +44 (0) 160 360 6635

Or email us at conciergehome@aviva.com

#### Damage to property

The cover described in Your property emergencies (page 31) is designed to help you to deal with damaged property in an emergency.

#### You must:

- co-operate with us fully and provide all information that we require including the value of any items that have been damaged;
- take all practical steps to protect property after an occurrence, including urgent repairs that are needed to prevent further damage. You must arrange for these to be done as soon as possible. Keep all bills related to this work, since they may be included in your claim; and
- allow us to inspect any damage before repair work starts, unless you need to undertake urgent repairs.

#### Injuries to you

If you have suffered illness or injury, you must:

- see a medical practitioner as soon as possible;
- follow all medical advice;
- co-operate with us fully and provide all information that we require; and
- send us any records and documents that we require, including notes from your medical practitioner in relation to your claim

# Injury to others or damage to their property

You may be held responsible for injury or damage to someone else.

After any incident or occurrence which may lead to a claim, you must:

- not admit liability;
- not offer to pay for any damage;
- co-operate with us fully and provide all information that we require;
- obtain and provide to us names and addresses of any injured parties and witnesses (if any were present);
- as soon as is practicably possible, send us every item of correspondence and legal documents you have, as well as details of any conversations relating to your claim; and
- not appoint legal representation without our written permission.

NO ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF LIABILITY, WHETHER EXPRESS OR TACIT, NOR ANY TRANSACTION, ENTERED INTO WITHOUT THE INSURER'S PRIOR WRITTEN AGREEMENT SHALL BE ENFORCEABLE AGAINST THE INSURER.

#### Relevant documents

Relevant documents we may need to see under any of the above include:
Estimates
☐ Invoices
Receipts
☐ Notes from your medical practitioner
Letters
☐ Legal documents

#### **CONDITIONS RELATING TO CLAIMS**

The conditions listed below apply to every section of this policy, unless otherwise stated. There are additional specific conditions listed under particular sections.

#### Claims management

ACTING IN YOUR NAME, WE MAY TAKE OVER THE DEFENCE OR SETTLEMENT OF ANY CLAIM AT OUR EXPENSE. HOWEVER, YOU RETAIN THE POSSIBILITY OF INTERVENING IF YOU HAVE AN INTEREST IN DOING SO, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE L. 113-17, PARAGRAPH 2 OF THE INSURANCE CODE.

YOU UNDERTAKE TO GIVE US ALL POSSIBLE ASSISTANCE TO FACILITATE THE MANAGEMENT OF ANY CLAIM AGAINST YOU. IN PARTICULAR, YOU SHALL INFORM US WITHOUT DELAY OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN PROGRESS AND OF NEW PROCEEDINGS BROUGHT AGAINST YOU.

#### Your property

Your property shall remain yours at all times. We will not take ownership of, accept liability for, sell or dispose of any of your property unless:

- we agree with you in writing that we shall do so:
- you surrender your property as set out under the Pairs and sets condition; or
- your property is recovered as set out under the Recovered property condition.

#### Pairs and sets

Where loss occurs to a pair or set, or a part of a larger unit, we will either:

- replace the pair or set or larger unit (on the condition that you agree to surrender to us the undamaged item(s) of the pair or set, or larger unit); or
- restore the pair or set or larger unit to their condition before the loss occurred and, if a valuable, we will pay the difference between their market value immediately before and after the loss occurred.

If the loss is covered under Your valuables, you decide which option applies to your claim. If it is covered by any other section, we will decide which option applies.

WE WILL NOT PAY MORE THAN
THE AMOUNT INSURED FOR EACH
OCCURRENCE OR, WHERE THE PAIR
OR SET OR LARGER UNIT IS AN
UNSPECIFIED VALUABLE, WE WILL
NOT PAY MORE THAN THE SINGLE
ITEM LIMIT FOR UNSPECIFIED
VALUABLES.

#### Recovered property

If you recover any of your contents or valuables after we have paid your claim, you must notify us as soon as possible. At your option you can either:

- repay us the same value paid under your claim for the item(s) recovered; or
- surrender to us the item(s) recovered.

If we recover any of your contents or valuables after we have paid your claim, we will notify you and you may buy the item(s) back from us at the same value paid under your claim.

#### Reward

At our discretion, and only as allowed by any applicable law, **WE WILL PAY A REWARD OF UP TO £50,000 FOR**information leading to a criminal conviction of anyone who committed an illegal act which resulted in a payment under this policy.

WE WILL NOT PAY ANY REWARDS TO YOU, A CLOSE RELATION, OR THE POLICE OR OTHER AUTHORITY.

#### Rights of recovery

WE ARE SUBROGATED, UP TO THE AMOUNT OF THE INDEMNITY PAID BY US, IN ALL THE RIGHTS AND ACTIONS OF YOU AGAINST ANY PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE LOSS.

IF, DUE TO YOUR FAULT, SUBROGATION CAN NO LONGER BE EXERCISED IN FAVOUR OF US, WE ARE DISCHARGED FROM OUR GUARANTEE TOWARDS YOU AND RETAIN A RECOURSE ACTION AGAINST YOU TO THE EXTENT THAT SUBROGATION COULD HAVE BEEN EXERCISED AND UP TO THE AMOUNT OF THE INDEMNITY PAID BY IT.

#### **Definitions**

We have set out below the defined terms used in this policy. They will have the same meaning wherever they are used in this policy.

In this section, all the defined terms are printed in bold, However, everywhere else in this policy, we have printed them in the regular font to make the policy easier to read.

**Accident** means a sudden, unexpected, unforeseen incident which occurs at an identifiable time and place and during the period of insurance.

**Amount insured** means the most we will pay (as stated in the schedule) unless this policy wording states that a different amount may be paid.

**Bank cards** means credit, charge or debit cards.

**Buildings** means your home and other permanent structures owned by you.

Buildings includes utility pipes, cables, domestic underground and over-ground tanks supplying or serving the buildings and within the grounds of the residence.

**Chauffeur** means a person paid by you to drive your motor vehicle(s).

**Close relation** means your spouse, partner, legal guardian, father, mother, child (including adopted child, step child, and foster child), sibling, aunt, uncle, niece, nephew, grandparent or grandchild.

**Contents** means household goods and personal property all of which are owned by you or in your possession.

#### This includes:

- food and drink;
- home office business equipment;
- the cost of metered water that has accidentally escaped from your heating or plumbing system;
- the cost of domestic heating fuel that has accidentally escaped from your heating or plumbing system or has been stolen.

# **Couture clothing and designer clothing** means items of clothing and accessories made by a couturier or fashion designer

• have artistic or historical value;

• are rare or unique; or

respectively which:

• are novel and of personal interest,

all of which are owned by you or for which you are legally responsible

**Damage** means actual physical damage to, or destruction of, or the loss of use of tangible property.

**Dangerous activities** means the following activities in which participation is known to carry an increased risk of injury:

- scuba diving to depths of more than 30 metres;
- hang-gliding or para-gliding;
- parachuting, unless tandem parachuting;
- parascending other than over water;
- mountaineering or rock climbing normally requiring the use of guides or ropes;
- pot-holing or caving;
- racing of any kind other than on foot or swimming;
- more than 3 bungee jumps in any one 28-day period;
- micro-lighting; and
- off-piste skiing unless with a qualified guide.

**Domestic duties** means duties relating to your residence, your home office business, incidental farming, your personal care or acting as your chauffeur.

**Domestic employees** means any person working for you solely in respect of domestic duties and who is:

 employed by you under an employment contract in the United Kingdom,
 Monaco, Switzerland or a country which is a member of the European Union; or  self-employed and working on a labour only basis under your control or supervision in the United Kingdom, Monaco, Switzerland or a country which is a member of the European Union.

**Endorsement** means a change in the terms and conditions of this policy that can extend or restrict cover.

**Excess** means the amount for which you are responsible as the first part of loss arising from each occurrence for which we agree a claim as stated in the schedule.

**Fine art** and **Collectibles** means individual items, private collections and sets that:

- have artistic or historical value;
- are rare or unique; or
- are novel and of personal interest,

all of which are owned by you or for which you are legally responsible.

#### Fine art means:

- paintings, drawings, prints, photographs and etchings;
- antique and designer furniture;
- tapestries and rugs;
- statues, sculptures, ornaments, porcelain and glass; and
- any other item stated as an item of fine art in the schedule.

#### Collectibles means:

- books and manuscripts;
- clocks and barometers;
- gold/silver and gold/silver plated items;
- furs and guns;
- stamps, coins, medal collections, other collectibles and memorabilia;
- wine and spirits; and
- any other item stated as a collectible in the schedule

**Green generation system** means a solar, wind or geothermal electrical power-generating system, which solely or principally serves your residence.

**Home** means the main dwelling, other liveable dwellings and attached buildings at the residence listed in the schedule and owned by you.

Home office business means office clerical and administrative work, which is carried out in your residence by you or your employees, provided that you do not employ more than 5 people for such work.

**Home office business equipment** means office furniture, equipment, computers, office supplies and stationery, used to conduct your home office business.

**Home office business stock** means supplies, goods or merchandise kept at your buildings and which are connected solely to your home office business.

**Incidental farming** means farming and stabling of horses, carried out by you at your residence.

To qualify as incidental farming:

- your domestic employees must not work more than 1,000 hours in total in any 12-month period;
- and no more than £50,000 in gross annual revenues can be produced in any 12-month period.

**Injury** means identifiable physical bodily harm, caused solely by accidental means and not resulting from sickness or disease or intentional self-harm

**Jewellery** means items worn, or intended to be worn, made of or containing gemstones, silver, gold, platinum or other precious metals, all of which are owned by you or for which you are legally responsible. This also includes watches and set or unset gemstones.

**Legal claim** under Your liability means:

- a written demand for monetary or non-monetary relief;
- any proceeding in a court of law or equity, or arbitration; or
- any regulatory or administrative proceeding.

#### Loss means:

- under Your buildings, Your contents, Your valuables and Your property emergencies, loss or damage; and
- under Your liability:
  - damage; or
  - personal injury, which means:
    - injury, and resulting sickness disease and death:
    - false arrest; false imprisonment or unlawful detention;
    - shock, mental injury or anguish;
    - invasion of the right of privacy;
    - libel, slander or defamation of character;
    - malicious prosecution or humiliation; or
    - unlawful entry or eviction.

**Loss of hearing** means the total and permanent loss of hearing in one or both ears.

#### Loss of limb means:

- loss of a leg or foot means either that it has been severed at or above the ankle, or that you have permanently lost the use of an entire leg or foot.
- loss of an arm or hand means either that it has been severed at or above the wrist, or that you have permanently lost the use of an entire arm or hand.

#### Loss of sight means:

- permanent and total loss of sight in both eyes is evidenced by your name being added to the Register of Blind Persons on the authority of a fully qualified ophthalmic specialist.
- permanent and total loss of sight in one eye means that the degree of sight remaining after correction is 3/60 or less on the Snellen scale.

**Loss of speech** means the total and permanent loss of the ability to speak audibly and intelligibly.

**Market value** means the amount taking the average value determined by two independent valuers one selected by you and one by us.

**Main residence** means the first residence as stated in the schedule.

**Medical expenses** means expenses incurred for medical and/or dental treatment administered or prescribed by a medical practitioner, professional nursing services, physiotherapy, hospital and nursing home charges and ambulance charges:

• in respect of Your personal emergencies – Emergency events (page 33).

They do not include:

 costs incurred more than 12 months after the occurrence of an emergency event in respect of Your personal emergencies – Emergency events (page 33). **Medical practitioner** means a doctor or specialist who is registered or licensed to practise medicine under the laws of the country in which they practise but does not include you or a member of your family.

**Money** means bank notes and coins (that are not part of a collection), cheques, bank drafts, travel tickets, traveller's cheques or savings certificates.

#### Occurrence means:

- under Your buildings, Your contents and Your valuables, all loss arising out of one event where the event first occurs during the period of insurance;
- under Your liability, any one event or series of events which is sudden and accidental arising out of one original cause of loss which first occurs during the period of insurance.

**Other permanent structures** means any other permanent structures, owned by you, within the grounds of your residence but not attached to your home.

**Period of insurance** means the period that this policy is in force as stated in the schedule.

**Personal digital data** means music, videos and photographs stored on your personal computer, tablet or phone.

**Pets** means domestic pets.

**Policy** means this policy wording and the schedule and any endorsements.

**Pollution** means any pollution, seepage, discharge, dispersal, release or escape of any solid, liquid, gaseous or thermal irritant or contaminant including, for example, smoke, vapours, soot, dust, fibres, fungi, mould, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and waste (including, for example, material to be recycled, reconditioned or reclaimed) or contamination of any kind of the atmosphere or of any water, land, buildings or other tangible property.

**Rebuild cost** means the sum, as at the time of the occurrence, which is required to restore, repair, replace or rebuild a building, whichever is less, using the same design, quality of materials and workmanship which existed immediately before the occurrence.

It does not include the costs of excavation, replacement or stabilisation of land.

**Residence** means any of the following which are listed on the schedule:

- any buildings and grounds in any one location owned by you; or
- any other property you own or reside in.

**Schedule** means the document entitled 'Your Policy Schedule' that relates to and forms part of this policy.

**Settlement** means the downward movement of the ground as a result of the soil being compressed by the weight of the buildings within 10 years of construction

**Subsidence** means the downward movement of the ground beneath the home where the movement is unconnected with the weight of the home.

#### It includes:

- heave the upward movement of the ground beneath the home as a result of the soil expanding; and
- landslip the downward movement of sloping ground.

#### Temporary residence means:

- a private residence occupied by you; or
- the bedroom(s) or suite(s) occupied by you at a hotel, resort or on-board a watercraft.

**Tenants' improvements** means additions, alterations or installations that you paid for, or are responsible for, at your residence.

#### **Valuables** means items of:

- fine art and collectibles;
- couture clothing and designer clothing; and
- jewellery.

#### Visitors means:

- domestic employees who work but do not live at your residence; and
- individuals you have invited to your residence or temporary residence, not including those persons who pay rent to live in your residence.

**Watercraft** means a boat or other vessel that travels on water (including its furnishings, equipment and outboard motors).

#### We/us/our means:

 Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company as set out in your schedule.

**You/your** means the person, persons or legal entity named as the policyholder in the schedule and all members of your family (including adopted children, stepchildren and foster children), spouses, fiancés, co-habitees or partners who live:

- permanently in your residence; or
- temporarily away from your residence while at school, college or university.

It also includes domestic employees who live permanently in your residence unless we state otherwise in this policy.

You/your does not include those persons who pay rent to live in your residence.

#### **GENERAL EXCLUSIONS**

THESE EXCLUSIONS APPLY
TO EACH AND EVERY SECTION
OF THIS POLICY, UNLESS
OTHERWISE STATED. THEY
APPLY IN ADDITION TO ANY
SPECIFIC EXCLUSIONS
LISTED UNDER A PARTICULAR
SECTION.

# Defined terms used in this section accident contents damage domestic employees endorsement injury legal claim loss occurrence period of insurance policy pollution residence we/us/our

See Definitions (page 12).

you/your

#### **COMMUNICABLE DISEASE**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE, INJURY, LEGAL CLAIM,
EXPENSES OR LIABILITY WHICH IS
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY,
CONTRIBUTED TO OR ARISING FROM
ANY DISEASE, VIRUS OR SYNDROME
THAT CAN BE SPREAD FROM ONE
PERSON TO ANOTHER OR FROM AN
ANIMAL TO A PERSON.

#### CONFISCATION

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES
CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM THE
DESTRUCTION, CONFISCATION OR
SEIZURE OF YOUR PROPERTY UNDER
THE ORDER OF ANY GOVERNMENT
OR PUBLIC OR LOCAL AUTHORITY.

#### **CYBER**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED
BY OR ARISING FROM:

- THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE ANY APPLICATION, SOFTWARE OR PROGRAMME,
- ANY COMPUTER VIRUS; OR
- ANY COMPUTER RELATED HOAX RELATING TO THE ABOVE.

DISHONEST, INTENTIONAL ACTS AND MISAPPROPRIATION

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES:

- CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM:
  - ANY DISHONEST ACT BY YOU, OR AT YOUR DIRECTION; OR
  - ANY CRIMINAL ACT BY YOU OR AT YOUR DIRECTION, OTHER THAN WHERE A CRIMINAL ACT IS TO BE DEFENDED UNDER YOUR LEGAL SOLUTIONS;
- DELIBERATELY OR RECKLESSLY CAUSED BY YOU, ARISING FROM YOUR ACTIONS OR ARISING FROM THE ACTIONS OF A PERSON DIRECTED BY YOU; OR
- CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM MISAPPROPRIATION BY YOU OR BY A PERSON DIRECTED BY YOU.

FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS EXCLUSION, THE DEFINITION OF 'YOU' DOES NOT INCLUDE DOMESTIC EMPLOYEES UNLESS THE DOMESTIC EMPLOYEE IS DIRECTED BY YOU.

#### **EROSION**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM COASTAL OR RIVER BANK EROSION. FAULTY, INADEQUATE OR DEFECTIVE PLANNING
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED
BY OR ARISING FROM FAULTY,
INADEQUATE OR DEFECTIVE:

- PLANNING DESIGN, PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT, PLANNING PERMISSION, SETTING SPECIFICATIONS, SITING AND SURVEYING;
- COMPACTION, CONSTRUCTION, DESIGN, GRADING, RE-MODELLING, RENOVATION, REPAIR, SPECIFICATIONS AND WORKMANSHIP;
- MATERIALS USED IN REPAIR, CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION OR RE-MODELLING; OR
- MAINTENANCE OF PART OR ALL OF ANY PROPERTY WHETHER ON OR OFF THE RESIDENCE.

THIS EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY TO ENSUING LOSS UNLESS ANOTHER EXCLUSION APPLIES.

#### **FEES**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY FEES INCURRED IN PREPARING OR FURTHERING ANY CLAIM UNDER THIS POLICY.

#### **FORGERIES**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES IN RELATION TO ITEMS INSURED BY US WHICH ARE SUBSEQUENTLY IDENTIFIED AS BEING FAKES OR FORGERIES AND HAVE TO BE DESTROYED OR RELINQUISHED BY YOU.

#### **FROST**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM FROST.

MAINTENANCE, RENOVATIONS AND REPAIRS

#### **WE DO NOT COVER:**

- THE COSTS OF MAINTENANCE OR REDECORATION;
- LOSS OR DAMAGE TO YOUR BUILDINGS CAUSED BY THE PROCESS OF PROFESSIONAL CLEANING; OR
- LOSS OR DAMAGE TO YOUR
   BUILDINGS CAUSED BY
   ALTERATION, REPAIR, RENOVATION,
   RESTORATION, CONSTRUCTION OR
   DECORATION, UNLESS:
  - SUCH BUILDING WORKS COST LESS THAN £500,000; OR
  - YOU HAVE NOTIFIED US IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHANGES WE NEED TO KNOW ABOUT (PAGE 7).

NUCLEAR HAZARD, RADIOACTIVE, CHEMICAL OR BIOLOGICAL CONTAMINATION WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED BY OR ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO:

- THE RADIOACTIVE, TOXIC, EXPLOSIVE OR OTHER HAZARDOUS OR CONTAMINATING PROPERTIES OF ANY RADIOACTIVE MATTER;
- IONISING RADIATIONS FROM OR CONTAMINATION BY RADIOACTIVITY FROM ANY NUCLEAR FUEL OR FROM ANY NUCLEAR WASTE FROM THE COMBUSTION OF NUCLEAR FUEL;
- THE RADIOACTIVE, TOXIC, EXPLOSIVE OR OTHER HAZARDOUS PROPERTIES OF ANY EXPLOSIVE NUCLEAR ASSEMBLY OR NUCLEAR COMPONENT THEREOF.

#### **POLLUTION**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS, DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED BY, ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO POLLUTION.

THIS EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY TO THE CLEARING-UP OF POLLUTION AT YOUR RESIDENCE CAUSED BY ANY SUDDEN, UNFORESEEN AND IDENTIFIABLE OIL LEAKAGE FROM A DOMESTIC OIL INSTALLATION OR LOSS TO CONTENTS CAUSED BY OIL, SUBJECT TO ALL OTHER TERMS, CONDITIONS AND EXCLUSIONS WITHIN THIS POLICY.

PRIOR ACCIDENTS, LOSSES OR
OCCURRENCES
WE DO NOT COVER ANY ACCIDENT,
LOSS, INJURY OR OCCURRENCE
WHICH OCCURS OR COMMENCES
PRIOR TO THE START OF THE PERIOD
OF INSURANCE.

UNSUITABLE TRANSPORTATION AND PACKING
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS
TO ANY ITEM DURING TRANSIT
WHICH IS NOT SUITABLY PACKED
AND SECURED RELATIVE TO ITS
VALUE AND MATERIALS USED IN ITS
CONSTRUCTION AND THE METHOD
OF TRANSPORTATION.

#### **WAR**

**ANY CONSEQUENCE WHATSOEVER** WHICH IS THE DIRECT OR INDIRECT RESULT OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING, **OR ANYTHING CONNECTED WITH** ANY OF THE FOLLOWING, WHETHER **OR NOT SUCH CONSEQUENCE HAS BEEN CONTRIBUTED TO BY ANY** OTHER CAUSE OR EVENT: WAR, **INVASION, ACT OF A FOREIGN ENEMY, HOSTILITIES OR A WARLIKE OPERATION OR OPERATIONS** (WHETHER WAR BE DECLARED OR NOT), CIVIL WAR, MUTINY, REBELLION, **REVOLUTION, MILITARY RISING, INSURRECTION, CIVIL COMMOTION ASSUMING THE PROPORTIONS OF** OR AMOUNTING TO AN UPRISING. **MILITARY OR USURPED POWER.** 

WEAR AND TEAR AND BREAKDOWN
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS,
DAMAGE, INJURY, LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIM, COSTS OR EXPENSES CAUSED
BY OR ARISING FROM:

- WEAR AND TEAR, BEING A
   REDUCTION IN VALUE THROUGH
   AGE, NATURAL DETERIORATION,
   ORDINARY USE, DEPRECIATION
   DUE TO USE, DAMAGE BY
   EXPOSURE TO THE LIGHT, LACK
   OF MAINTENANCE OR LOSS
   WHICH HAPPENS GRADUALLY
   OVER A PERIOD OF TIME;
- INHERENT FLAW, LATENT DEFECT, MECHANICAL OR ELECTRICAL BREAKDOWN;
- WARPING OR SHRINKAGE, RUST, BACTERIA OR CORROSION, WET OR DRY ROT;
- EXPOSURE TO CLIMATIC TEMPERATURES; OR
- EXTREMES OF TEMPERATURE,
  DAMPNESS OR DRYNESS OF
  ATMOSPHERE, OR WATER
  VAPOUR (LOSS ARISING DIRECTLY
  FROM RAIN, SLEET, SNOW OR
  HAIL IS NOT EXCLUDED).

THIS EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY TO ENSUING LOSS UNLESS ANOTHER EXCLUSION APPLIES.

#### General conditions

These conditions apply to every section of this policy, unless otherwise stated.
There are additional specific conditions listed under particular sections.

#### Defined terms used in this section

Defined terms used in this section
amount insured
buildings
contents
damage
excess
injury
legal claim
loss
money
occurrence
policy
schedule
we/us/our
you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

#### **Amount insured**

We will not pay more than the relevant amount insured or limit unless otherwise expressly stated in this policy. Where more than one of you is named in the schedule, the total amount we will pay will not exceed the amount we would be liable to pay to any one of you (except under Your travel).

#### Currency

Any amount of money referred to in this policy will be converted to the currency used in the schedule at the exchange rate that applies at the date of the claim.

#### **Duplicate cover**

If you are covered under one section for your loss, we will not pay for that loss under a different section.

#### Excess

We will not pay the amount of the excess as detailed in the schedule or as stated in this policy.

HOWEVER, WE WILL NOT APPLY THE EXCESS IF AN OCCURRENCE COVERED UNDER THE YOUR BUILDINGS AND/ OR THE YOUR CONTENTS SECTION EXCEEDS £10,000 IN TOTAL.

No excess applies to any covered loss for food and drink.

#### Improving your cover

We may improve the cover provided under our Private Clients Ultra High Net Worth Home Insurance. If we do so, we will automatically apply the improved cover to this policy without charging an additional premium. We will define a date for the improved cover to take effect.

#### Protection from inflation

We will adjust the amount insured for buildings and contents each month to account for the current effect of inflation based upon a suitable index chosen by us. At each renewal, the premium will be calculated on the adjusted amount insured.

#### Shared limits

The total amount payable under the applicable limits of cover provided under the contract of insurance underwritten by Aviva Insurance Limited and issued to you combined with the corresponding limits of cover provided under the contract of insurance underwritten by Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company and issued to you in respect of the same loss and/or occurrence and/or claim and/or in the aggregate shall not exceed the applicable limits of any one of these contracts of insurance.

#### Transferring the policy

No person covered under this policy may transfer or assign their interest in this policy to anyone else without our prior written agreement.

#### Taking care

You must take practical steps to prevent and mitigate all loss, damage, injury, liability, legal claims, cost and/or expenses covered by this policy. You must also take practical steps to protect your property.

You must keep and maintain your property in a good condition and state of repair.

IF YOU DO NOT COMPLY WITH THESE PROVISIONS, WE MAY REFUSE TO PAY OR REDUCE ANY PAYMENT WE MAKE FOR A CLAIM, UNLESS YOU SHOW THAT YOUR FAILURE TO COMPLY COULD NOT HAVE INCREASED THE RISK OF THE CLAIM WHICH ACTUALLY OCCURRED IN THE CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH IT OCCURRED.

## Your buildings

# We cover your buildings against all risks of loss and damage.

#### Defined terms used in this section

Denned terms asea in this section
amountinsured
buildings
close relation
damage
excess
green generation system
home
loss
occurrence
other permanent structures
period of insurance
policy
rebuild cost
residence
schedule
settlement
subsidence
United Kingdom
we/us/our
you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

Cover under this section is subject to the terms, conditions, applicable limits and exclusions in this policy.

Cover for a residence under this section, including the additional covers, is only provided where an amount insured is stated in the schedule.

#### The amount insured

The amount insured for buildings at each residence covered by this section is stated in your schedule. The amount insured applies to each occurrence and is subject to the excess stated in your schedule.

#### What we will pay

If your schedule shows that you have cover for rebuild costs, we will pay the rebuild cost of your buildings up to the amount insured.

If your schedule shows that you have cover for increased rebuild costs, we will pay the rebuild cost of your buildings even if this exceeds the amount insured.

Where loss occurs to a building, we will also pay for excavating, replacing or stabilising the land under or around it which is required for its rebuilding or repair. FOR EACH OCCURRENCE, WE WILL PAY UP TO 20% OF THE COVERED LOSS IN RESPECT OF THE BUILDING WHICH SUFFERED THE LOSS.

#### Your buildings: Additional covers

These additional covers:

- apply automatically to residences at which your buildings are covered by this section;
- are provided in addition to the amount insured for Your buildings, unless we state otherwise; and
- are subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section, the applicable limits and the excess (unless stated otherwise).

#### Construction materials

We will provide cover against loss to any materials you own and which will be used in connection with construction works at your residence, as long as they are within the boundaries of your residence.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £500,000 FOR EACH OCCURRENCE.

IF THE ESTIMATE FOR YOUR BUILDING WORK IS OVER £500,000 YOU MUST NOTIFY US IN ACCORDANCE WITH CHANGES WE NEED TO KNOW ABOUT (PAGE 7).

#### Garden and landscaping – damage

We will pay for loss to your garden and landscaping arising from:

- fire;
- lightning or explosion;
- earthquake;
- riot or civil commotion;
- a collision by a vehicle or aircraft not owned by you;
- falling lamp-posts, telegraph poles or pylons; or
- theft, attempted theft, vandalism, malicious acts or trespass.

For each occurrence, we will pay up to 20% of the amount insured for the buildings at the residence:

- to restore trees, shrubs, plants and lawns and the repair of fences and gates, within the grounds of the residence; and
- to remove rubbish or other waste material which has been left at your residence by trespassers.

WE WILL NOT PAY MORE THAN £10,000 FOR ANY ONE TREE, SHRUB OR PLANT.

# Garden and landscaping – fallen trees

We will cover the costs of removing any trees at your residence which have fallen during a storm.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £2,500 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

# Green generation system – damage

If loss has occurred to a green generation system (which we have agreed to pay under this section) we will pay for:

- the cost of buying additional electrical power from a power utility company which is incurred as a direct result of the loss; and
- the decrease of your usual income from selling excess power to a power utility company, which is a direct result of the loss. We will base any decrease of income calculations on income generated over the 12 months immediately before the occurrence.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £50,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL OCCURRENCES IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE. You will not be liable for any excess.

WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER
IF YOU BEGIN TO REPAIR OR
REPLACE YOUR GREEN GENERATION
SYSTEM WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE
OCCURRENCE.

Green generation system – installation

WE WILL PAY TOWARDS THE COST OF INSTALLING A GREEN GENERATION SYSTEM TO THE DAMAGED PART OF A BUILDING TO WHICH LOSS EXCEEDING £10,000 HAS OCCURRED (AND WHICH WE HAVE AGREED TO PAY UNDER THIS SECTION).

WE WILL PAY UP TO 50% OF THE AMOUNT WE HAVE AGREED TO PAY IN RESPECT OF LOSS WHICH HAS OCCURRED TO THE BUILDING. THIS IS SUBJECT TO A MAXIMUM OF £100,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE. YOU WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY EXCESS.

IF YOU ALREADY HAD A GREEN
GENERATION SYSTEM IN
YOUR BUILDING BEFORE THE
OCCURRENCE, WE WILL NOT
PROVIDE THIS ADDITIONAL COVER.

#### Locating leaks

We will cover the costs of finding:

• a gas, oil or water leak from your heating, cooking or water systems; and

- water leaks from service pipes which:
  - are connected to and supply your buildings;
  - you are legally responsible for; and
  - are located underground and within the boundaries of your residence.

We will also repair any damage to your residence which directly results from efforts to find the leak

We will pay up to the amount insured for buildings at the residence where the leak occurs.

WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF THE WATER, GAS OR OIL LEAK WAS FIRST DISCOVERED DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### Memorials

If a stone or plaque commemorating a close relation is stolen or suffers damage during the period of insurance, **WE WILL PAY UP TO £25,000 FOR ITS REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT.** 

#### Rent owed to you

If a building (or part of it) is uninhabitable as a result of a loss we have agreed to pay under this section, we will pay for rent (including ground rent) which you cannot recover as a landlord.

We will pay your irrecoverable rent for the time it takes to make the building (or the affected part) habitable again.

WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF THE BUILDING (OR THE AFFECTED PART) WAS RENTED OUT AT THE TIME OF THE OCCURRENCE.

WE WILL NOT PROVIDE COVER FOR ANY LOSS OF RENT DUE TO TERMINATION OR EXPIRY OF A LEASE OR RENT AGREEMENT NOT ARISING DIRECTLY AS A RESULT OF THE OCCURRENCE.

#### **WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF:**

- THE RESIDENCE IS NOT INSURED BY THE PURCHASER;
- THE CONTRACT FOR THE SALE OF THE RESIDENCE IS EXCHANGED WITHIN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE; AND
- YOU CONTINUE TO RENEW THIS POLICY WITH US. IF YOU DO NOT RENEW THIS POLICY WITH US, THIS COVER WILL END AT THE EXPIRY DATE OF THIS POLICY.

Water damage – detection and prevention

WE WILL PAY TOWARDS THE COST OF INSTALLING A WATER LEAK DETECTION SYSTEM IN A BUILDING WHERE WE HAVE PAID A WATER LEAK CLAIM EXCEEDING £10,000.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £5,000 IN TOTAL IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE FOR WATER LEAK DETECTION SYSTEMS. YOU WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY EXCESS.

WE WILL PAY TOWARDS THE COST OF INSTALLING A FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEM AT A RESIDENCE WHERE WE HAVE PAID A FLOOD CLAIM EXCEEDING £50,000.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £20,000 IN TOTAL FOR FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE. YOU WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY EXCESS.

IF YOU ALREADY HAD A WATER DETECTION SYSTEM INSTALLED IN THE AFFECTED BUILDING OR A FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEM AT THE AFFECTED RESIDENCE BEFORE THE OCCURRENCE, WE WILL NOT PROVIDE THIS ADDITIONAL COVER.

# YOUR BUILDINGS: EXCLUSIONS

THE EXCLUSIONS LISTED BELOW APPLY TO THE WHOLE OF THE YOUR BUILDINGS SECTION, UNLESS WE STATE OTHERWISE.

#### **SETTLEMENT**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE CAUSED BY SETTLEMENT.

STRUCTURAL MOVEMENT
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR
DAMAGE CAUSED BY THE MOVEMENT
OF YOUR BUILDINGS, UNLESS IT IS
CAUSED BY SUBSIDENCE.

# SUBSIDENCE WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE TO:

- ANY BOUNDARY WALL, BRIDGE, DOCK, DOMESTIC FIXED TANK, DRIVEWAY, FENCE, FOOTPATH, GARDEN WALL, GATE, JETTY, LAND, PATIO, PAVEMENT, PIER, RETAINING WALL, SEA WALL, SWIMMING POOL, TENNIS COURT, TERRACE OR WHARF, CAUSED BY SUBSIDENCE, UNLESS THE HOME OR OTHER LIVEABLE DWELLING AT THE RESIDENCE IS PHYSICALLY DAMAGED AT THE SAME TIME; OR
- SOLID FLOOR SLABS, UNLESS THE FOUNDATIONS UNDERNEATH THE EXTERNAL WALLS OF YOUR HOME OR OTHER LIVEABLE DWELLINGS AT THE RESIDENCE ARE DAMAGED AT THE SAME TIME AND BY THE SAME CAUSE.

#### Your contents

# We cover your contents against all risks of loss and damage.

#### Defined terms used in this section

Denned terms used in this section
amountinsured
buildings
close relation
damage
domestic employees
excess
home office equipment
home office business stock
incidental farming
jewellery
loss
money
occurrence
period of insurance
personal digital data
policy
residence
schedule
tenants' improvements
valuables
visitors
watercraft
we/us/our
you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

Cover under this section is subject to the terms, conditions, applicable limits and exclusions in this policy.

#### The amount insured

The amount insured for your contents at each of your residences is stated in your schedule. The amount insured applies to each occurrence and is subject to the excess stated in your schedule.

#### What we will pay

We will pay the full cost to replace or repair loss to your contents, whichever is less, up to the amount insured for each residence as stated in your schedule.

If the cost of replacing your contents is more than the amount you have insured them for, we may, at our discretion, pay an increased replacement cost or contribution to the increased replacement cost up to 100% more than the amount insured, if you provide us with a professional valuation of your contents undertaken no more than 3 years before the occurrence or one of our risk managers has assessed and agreed the amount insured for your contents is adequate, no more than 3 years before the occurrence.

You must maintain the amount insured for your contents at each particular residence covered by this section.

#### Specified limits

For the categories of contents in the table below, there is a maximum limit we will pay for each occurrence. This does not increase the amount insured for contents, either here or elsewhere in this policy, except for jewellery where the maximum limit below is in addition to the cover provided in Your valuables (page 24).

TYPE OF CONTENTS	MAXIMUM FOR EACH OCCURRENCE
MONEY, DOCUMENTS AND TITLE DEEDS WHICH ARE	
NOT IN A LOCKED SAFE	£25,000
IN A LOCKED SAFE NOT LOCATED AT THE RESIDENCE	£50,000
IN A LOCKED SAFE LOCATED AT THE RESIDENCE	£50,000
HOME OFFICE BUSINESS STOCK	£50,000
WATERCRAFT	£50,000
JEWELLERY	£50,000
NON-MOTORISED TRAILERS AND CARAVANS	£50,000
PERSONAL DIGITAL DATA	£25,000
CONTENTS YOU OWN WHICH ARE KEPT AT A RESIDENCE OR STORAGE LOCATION NOT LISTED ON YOUR SCHEDULE	UP TO 15% OF THE HIGHEST AMOUNT INSURED OF YOUR CONTENTS AT A RESIDENCE LISTED ON YOUR SCHEDULE

#### Your contents: Additional covers

These additional covers:

- apply automatically to residences at which your contents are covered by this section;
- are provided in addition to the amount insured for Your contents, unless we state otherwise; and
- are subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section, the applicable limits and the excess (unless stated otherwise).

#### **Events**

If you have to cancel a personal celebration or other social gathering, **WE WILL PAY UP TO £250,000** in total for all such cancellations in the period of insurance in order to cover any costs you have paid out or are liable to pay and cannot recover.

## WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF THE CELEBRATION OR GATHERING WAS:

- NON-PROFIT MAKING;
- DUE TO TAKE PLACE AT YOUR RESIDENCE OR A HOTEL;
- ARRANGED BY YOU OR ON YOUR BEHALF; AND
- UNAVOIDABLY CANCELLED DUE
   TO SOMETHING BEYOND YOUR
   CONTROL WHICH YOU COULD NOT
   REASONABLY HAVE FORESEEN
   WHEN YOU ARRANGED THE EVENT.

#### Locating leaks

We will cover the costs of finding:

- a gas, oil or water leak from your heating, cooking or water systems; and
- water leaks from service pipes which:
  - are connected to and supply your buildings;
  - you are legally responsible for; and
  - are located underground and within the boundaries of your residence.

We will also repair any damage to your tenants' improvements which directly results from efforts to find the leak up to the amount insured for tenants' improvements at the residence where the loss occurs.

#### WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF:

- THE WATER, GAS OR OIL LEAK WAS FIRST DISCOVERED DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE; AND
- THE LEAK OCCURS AT A
   RESIDENCE WHERE YOUR
   CONTENTS ARE COVERED BY THIS
   POLICY.

#### **New items**

We will cover loss to any items that you buy, are given or inherit during the period of insurance and which fall under the definition of contents.

#### FOR EACH OCCURRENCE WE WILL PAY

**UP TO 30%** of the highest amount insured for contents at a single residence listed in your schedule.

WE WILL NOT PROVIDE COVER FOR AN ITEM UNLESS YOU ASK FOR IT TO BE COVERED WITHIN 90 DAYS OF ACQUIRING THE ITEM, AND PAY US THE ADDITIONAL PREMIUM DUE FROM THAT DATE.

#### Visitors

We will cover loss to the personal property of visitors to a residence at which contents are covered by this policy.

For each occurrence, we will pay up to the amount insured for your contents at that residence, or up to any specific limit which applies, whichever is less.

WE DO NOT PROVIDE COVER FOR VISITORS' VALUABLES OR MONEY.

THESE PAYMENTS DO NOT INCREASE
THE AMOUNT INSURED FOR YOUR
CONTENTS, AND ONLY APPLY IN
EXCESS OF ANY OTHER INSURANCE
COVER WHICH IS IN PLACE.

Water damage – detection and prevention

We will pay towards the costs of installing:

 A WATER LEAK DETECTION SYSTEM IN A RESIDENCE AT WHICH WE HAVE PAID A CLAIM UNDER YOUR

- CONTENTS, WHICH ARISES DIRECTLY FROM A WATER LEAK AND EXCEEDS £10,000. WE WILL PAY UP TO £5,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE FOR WATER LEAK DETECTION SYSTEMS;
- A FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEM IN A RESIDENCE AT WHICH WE HAVE PAID A CLAIM UNDER YOUR CONTENTS, WHICH ARISES DIRECTLY FROM A FLOOD AND EXCEEDS £50,000. WE WILL PAY UP TO £20,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE FOR FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEMS.

You will not be liable for any excess under this additional cover

IF YOU ALREADY HAD A WATER
DETECTION SYSTEM INSTALLED
IN THE AFFECTED BUILDING OR A
FLOOD PREVENTION SYSTEM AT
THE AFFECTED RESIDENCE BEFORE
THE OCCURRENCE, WE WILL NOT
PROVIDE THIS ADDITIONAL COVER.

WHERE A RESIDENCE IS COVERED UNDER YOUR BUILDINGS THIS ADDITIONAL COVER WILL NOT APPLY TO THAT RESIDENCE.

# When you are a tenant or a leaseholder

#### **Tenants' improvements**

If you are a tenant or leaseholder at a residence where your contents are covered by this policy, we will cover any loss that occurs to your tenants' improvements.

WE WILL PAY UP TO 20% OF THE AMOUNT INSURED FOR CONTENTS AT THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE LOSS OCCURS, OR THE AMOUNT STATED UNDER TENANTS' IMPROVEMENTS IN YOUR SCHEDULE, IF THIS IS HIGHER, FOR EACH OCCURRENCE.

#### **Gardens and landscaping**

If you are a tenant or leaseholder at a residence where your contents are covered by this policy, we will cover loss to your gardens and landscaping (at the residence and for which you are responsible or own) arising solely from:

- fire;
- lightning or explosion;
- earthquake;
- riot or civil commotion;
- a collision by a vehicle or aircraft not owned by you;
- falling lamp-posts, telegraph poles or pylons; or
- theft, attempted theft, vandalism, malicious acts or trespass.

For each occurrence, we will pay up to 10% of the total amount insured for tenants' improvements at the residence at which the loss occurs to:

- restore trees, shrubs, plants and lawns and the repair of fences and gates within the grounds of the residence;
   and
- remove rubbish or other waste material which has been left at your residence by trespassers.

WE WILL NOT PAY MORE THAN £10,000 FOR ANY ONE TREE, SHRUB OR PLANT.

#### Your parents and grandparents

We will cover loss to personal property belonging to your parents or grandparents who permanently live in a care or nursing home.

## WE WILL PAY UP TO £20,000 FOR EACH OCCURRENCE.

THIS COVER DOES NOT APPLY TO MONEY, AND ONLY APPLIES IN EXCESS OF ANY OTHER INSURANCE COVER WHICH IS IN PLACE.

FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS ADDITIONAL COVER, THE DEFINITION OF 'YOU' DOES NOT INCLUDE DOMESTIC EMPLOYEES.

#### YOUR CONTENTS: EXCLUSIONS

THE EXCLUSIONS LISTED BELOW APPLY TO THE WHOLE SECTION, UNLESS WE STATE OTHERWISE.

ANIMALS, BIRDS AND FISH
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR
DAMAGE TO ANIMALS, BIRDS AND
FISH.

#### **BUSINESS**

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE TO YOUR PROPERTY (INCLUDING MONEY) WHICH RELATES TO BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, UNLESS IT IS COVERED UNDER:

- OUTDOOR EQUIPMENT USED SOLELY IN CONNECTION WITH INCIDENTAL FARMING OR DOMESTIC GARDENING;
- HOME OFFICE BUSINESS EQUIPMENT; OR
- HOME OFFICE BUSINESS STOCK.

GOODS AND SERVICES
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS
CAUSED BY YOU HAVING NOT
RECEIVED GOODS AND SERVICES.

PERSONAL DIGITAL DATA
WE DO NOT COVER ELECTRONIC
DATA OTHER THAN YOUR PERSONAL
DIGITAL DATA.

TENANTS AT YOUR RESIDENCE
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS TO
PROPERTY THAT BELONGS TO
SOMEONE WHO PAYS YOU TO LIVE AT
YOUR RESIDENCE.

TRANSPORT
WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR
DAMAGE TO:

- MANNED OR UNMANNED AIRCRAFT, DRONES, OR THEIR PARTS;
- WATERBORNE VESSELS APART FROM THOSE DEFINED AS WATERCRAFT FOR THIS POLICY. WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE CAUSED BY THE STRANDING, SWAMPING OR SINKING OF A WATERCRAFT COVERED BY THIS POLICY; OR
- MOTOR VEHICLES, MOTORCYCLES AND THEIR ACCESSORIES.

#### Your valuables

# We cover your valuables against all risks of loss and damage.

amount insured
collectibles
couture clothing

Defined terms used in this section.

damage
designer clothing
excess

fine art jewellery loss

market value
occurrence
period of insurance

policy residence schedule

valuables we/us/our you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

Cover under this section is subject to the terms, conditions, applicable limits and exclusions in this policy but is not subject to an excess unless shown in your schedule.

#### Specified valuables

Your schedule will list any valuables or refer to a list of any valuables that you have specified and the amount insured.

If an occurrence results in loss to a specified valuable which:

- cannot be repaired for less than the replacement cost of the item, we will pay the amount insured for that item; or
- can be repaired for less than the replacement cost of the item, we will pay up to the amount insured:
  - to repair the item to its condition immediately before the loss; and
  - any difference in its market value if, after the repair, its market value is less than it was immediately before the loss.

We will pay more than the amount insured for that specified valuable if:

- its market value immediately before the loss is greater than the amount insured; and
- you can provide a purchase receipt or independent professional valuation which is not more than 3 years old at the time of the occurrence.

In these circumstances, we will pay the lesser of:

 ITS MARKET VALUE IMMEDIATELY BEFORE THE LOSS, UP TO 200% OF THE AMOUNT INSURED FOR THAT SPECIFIED VALUABLE; OR  THE TOTAL AMOUNT INSURED FOR THE SPECIFIED VALUABLE'S CATEGORY AS STATED IN THE SCHEDULE.

## UNLESS WE AGREE IN ADVANCE, WE WILL ONLY COVER:

- SPECIFIED JEWELLERY LISTED IN THE SCHEDULE AS 'IN-VAULT', WHEN KEPT IN A SECURE BANK VAULT OR SAFETY DEPOSIT FACILITY APPROVED BY US; OR
- SPECIFIED JEWELLERY LISTED IN THE SCHEDULE AS 'IN-SAFE', WHEN KEPT IN A LOCKED SAFE APPROVED BY US AT THE RESIDENCE LISTED IN THE SCHEDULE.

#### Unspecified valuables

If an occurrence results in loss of a valuable not specified on your schedule, we will pay to repair or replace it (whichever costs less). We will also pay any difference in its market value if, after the repair, its market value is less than it was immediately before the occurrence.

For each occurrence, we will pay up to the amount insured for each particular category of unspecified valuable as stated in the schedule. We will not pay more than:

- £50,000 FOR EACH UNSPECIFIED ITEM OF JEWELLERY; OR
- £150,000 FOR EACH UNSPECIFIED ITEM OF OTHER VALUABLES.

#### Your valuables: Additional covers

These additional covers:

- apply automatically if your valuables are covered by this section;
- are provided in addition to the amount insured for Your valuables, unless we state otherwise; and
- are subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section, the applicable limits and the excess (unless stated otherwise).

#### Couture clothing – unfinished items

If your schedule shows you are covered for couture clothing, we will cover the cost of material and contracted labour if you have commissioned items of couture clothing but they cannot be completed because:

- the couturiers cease to trade; or
- there is loss to an item being worked on.

#### WE WILL PAY UP TO £100,000 IN TOTAL

for all claims in the period of insurance but we will not pay more than you are legally liable to pay or had paid already and cannot recover.

WE WILL NOT PROVIDE COVER
UNLESS YOU PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF
YOUR COSTS OR EXPENSES.

#### Defective title

If, after you purchase a work of fine art, it is proved that:

- you are not the legal owner due to defective title; or
- you do not have good title to it, and you are legally required to return it to its rightful owner,

we will pay:

- the purchase price of the work of fine art; or
- the specified amount insured, whichever is the lesser.

We will also pay legal fees and expenses which are incurred by you in defending a title claim made against you.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £500,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS (INCLUSIVE OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES) IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF:

- THE WORK OF FINE ART IS A
   SPECIFIED VALUABLE AND HAS NOT
   BEEN SOLD OR DISPOSED OF BY YOU
- THE WORK OF FINE ART WAS
   PURCHASED (NOT INHERITED
   OR GIVEN TO YOU) AFTER YOUR
   FIRST POLICY INCEPTED WITH US;
- THE CLAIM WAS MADE AGAINST YOU AND REPORTED TO US DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE;

- YOU CAN DEMONSTRATE
  THAT YOU MADE REASONABLE
  ENQUIRIES INTO THE TITLE OF
  THE WORK OF FINE ART;
- YOU WERE NOT AWARE OF THE CLAIM (OR HAD NOT BEEN CONTACTED ABOUT A POTENTIAL CLAIM) AT THE TIME THIS POLICY WAS ENTERED INTO; AND
- IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES, OUR WRITTEN CONSENT IS OBTAINED PRIOR TO ANY LEGAL WORK BEING UNDERTAKEN AT ANY STAGE IN A CLAIM.

#### Loan of valuables to you

We will cover valuables that are loaned to or borrowed by you against loss.

WE WILL PROVIDE COVER FOR UP TO 30 DAYS FROM THE DATE ON WHICH THE VALUABLES ARE LOANED OR BORROWED; AND UP TO A TOTAL OF £1,000,000 FOR FINE ART AND COLLECTIBLES AND UP TO A TOTAL OF £250,000 FOR ANY OTHER VALUABLES.

This cover only applies in excess of any other insurance cover in force and only if you are covered for the category of valuables under which the borrowed item(s) falls.

#### New items

We will cover loss to items that you purchase, are given or inherit during the period of insurance which fall under the definition of valuables.

#### **WE WILL PAY:**

- UP TO 30% OF THE TOTAL AMOUNT INSURED FOR THE CATEGORY OF VALUABLE UNDER WHICH THE ITEM WOULD BE COVERED;
- £10,000,000 FOR FINE ART; OR
- £1,000,000 FOR OTHER VALUABLES FOR EACH ITEM,

WHICHEVER IS THE LESSER.

## WE WILL NOT PROVIDE COVER FOR A NEW ITEM UNLESS:

- YOUR SCHEDULE ALREADY
   INCLUDES VALUABLES THAT
   ARE INSURED UNDER THE SAME
   CATEGORY AS THAT OF THE NEW
   ITEM; AND
- YOU ASK FOR IT TO BE COVERED WITHIN 90 DAYS OF ACQUIRING THE ITEM AND PAY US THE ADDITIONAL PREMIUM DUE FROM THAT DATE.

#### Wine

If wine is covered under specified valuables, we will cover the reduction in resale value of that wine due to:

- labels being washed off or made illegible by flood or water damage;
- a failed air-conditioning/chiller system; or
- spoiling due to climate control system failure.

#### Works of fine art – unfinished items

We will cover the cost of material and contracted labour that you incur if you have commissioned items of fine art but they cannot be completed because:

- the artist has died during the period of insurance, or
- there is loss to the work you have commissioned during the period of insurance.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £250,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE BUT WE WILL NOT PAY MORE THAN YOU ARE LEGALLY LIABLE TO PAY AND CANNOT RECOVER.

WE WILL NOT PROVIDE COVER
UNLESS YOU PROVIDE EVIDENCE OF
YOUR COSTS OR EXPENSES.

#### YOUR VALUABLES: EXCLUSIONS

THE FOLLOWING SPECIFIC EXCLUSIONS APPLY TO THE ENTIRETY OF THIS SECTION, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED.

TRADE, BUSINESS OR PROFESSION WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS TO ANY VALUABLES HELD OR USED FOR ANY TRADE, BUSINESS OR PROFESSION.

#### WINE

WHERE THE VALUABLE IS WINE, WE DO NOT COVER ANY LOSS CAUSED BY UNEXPLAINED SHORTAGE, CONTAMINATION, RECORKING, ULLAGE, CORK TAINT, OXIDISATION, DISCOLOURATION OR MYSTERIOUS DISAPPEARANCE.

## Your liability

This section addresses how we will protect you in the event of an occurrence which leads to a legal claim.

#### Defined terms used in this section. accident amount insured bank cards buildings damage domestic duties domestic employees excess home office business incidental farming incidental motor vehicles injury legal claim loss medical practitioner occurrence period of insurance pets policy residence schedule United Kingdom watercraft we/us/our you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

Cover under this section is subject to the terms, conditions, applicable limits and exclusions in this policy.

#### Your third party liability cover

We will cover you against any legal claims for loss which you are legally obliged to pay which arise from an occurrence anywhere in the world.

FOR EACH OCCURRENCE, WE WILL ONLY PAY UP TO THE AMOUNT INSURED FOR THIRD PARTY LIABILITY AS STATED IN YOUR SCHEDULE OR, WHERE AN ADDITIONAL COVER APPLIES, UP TO THE APPLICABLE LIMIT IRRESPECTIVE OF HOW MANY OF YOU ARE INVOLVED AND HOW MANY LEGAL CLAIMS ARE BROUGHT AGAINST ONE OR MORE OF YOU.

#### Defence costs

We will cover any reasonable legal fees and expenses which are incurred by you in defending legal claims which, if you were to be found liable, would be covered by your third party liability cover, subject to the terms, conditions and exclusions set out in this policy.

FOR ALL LEGAL CLAIMS ARISING FROM EACH OCCURRENCE, WE WILL PAY UP TO £10,000,000 IN RESPECT OF DEFENDING THOSE CLAIMS.

WE WILL ONLY PAY YOUR LEGAL FEES IF YOU OBTAIN OUR WRITTEN CONSENT BEFORE ANY LEGAL WORK IS COMMENCED AND IF WE ASK YOUR LEGAL ADVISER TO DO SO AT SUCH STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS AS WE REQUIRE.

WHEN DEALING WITH AN
ALTERNATIVE LAWYER, RATHER THAN
ONE FROM OUR APPROVED FIRMS,
THE MOST WE WILL PAY IN COSTS
AND EXPENSES IS NO MORE THAN
THE AMOUNT WE WOULD HAVE PAID
OUR APPOINTED LAWYER. THIS
AMOUNT IS CURRENTLY £100 PER
HOUR AND CAN VARY FROM TIME TO
TIME AT OUR DISCRETION.

IN JURISDICTIONS WHERE LOCAL LAWS MAY PREVENT US FROM PAYING YOUR LEGAL FEES DIRECTLY, SUCH COSTS WILL BE INCURRED AND PAID BY YOU AND REIMBURSED BY US, SO LONG AS OUR PAYMENT DOES NOT CONTRAVENE ANY LAW OR REGULATION.

#### **Your excess**

No excess applies to your third party liability cover or defence costs.

# Your liability: Additional covers

These additional covers:

- apply automatically as long as you have third party liability cover as part of this policy;
- are provided in addition to the amount insured for third party liability cover, unless we state otherwise; and
- are subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section and the applicable limits. No excess applies.

#### Bank cards

If, during the period of insurance, bank cards issued in your name have been lost or stolen and used without your permission, we will cover the amount you are legally obliged to pay.

# WE WILL PAY UP TO £100,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

For the purposes of this additional cover, the definition of 'you' does not include domestic employees.

#### **WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER:**

- IF YOU COMPLY WITH THE TERMS OF THE BANK CARDS:
- IN THE CASE OF THEFT, IF YOU NOTIFY THE POLICE; AND
- IN EXCESS OF THE TERMS OF YOUR BANK.

#### Domestic employees liability cover

We will cover any legal claim for damages which you are legally obliged to pay to a domestic employee for injury, sickness, disease or death arising from an accident.

The injury, sickness, disease or death must arise from the domestic duties the domestic employee is employed by you to undertake, at a residence listed in your schedule where we are covering your buildings and/or your contents or while on a temporary trip abroad.

We will cover those legal fees and expenses you incur in defending legal claims which are covered by this additional cover, provided you meet the conditions given in Defence costs (page 27).

# WE WILL PAY UP TO £10,000,000 FOR DAMAGES AND LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES.

For the purposes of this additional cover, the definition of 'you' does not include domestic employees

WE DO NOT COVER ANY LIABILITY
ARISING FROM YOUR DOMESTIC
EMPLOYEES' WORK IN THE UNITED
STATES OF AMERICA OR CANADA
AFTER THEY HAVE BEEN IN EITHER
OR BOTH OF THESE COUNTRIES
FOR 90 DAYS IN TOTAL AT ANY TIME
DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### **Education fees**

If during the period of insurance you die or suffer an accident or long-term illness which means you are unable to function normally for 30 days or more (as diagnosed by a medical practitioner) and as a direct result:

- you are unable to start or continue an educational course at a school, college, university or other educational institution, we will pay for course fees and term-time accommodation which you have to pay (or are liable to pay) and which you cannot recover; or
- you are unable to sit examinations at a further or higher education institution required to be taken at a particular time, we will pay for the costs that you incur if you have to undertake an additional year of study so that you can take the same examinations.

## WE WILL PAY UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £50,000.

#### **Fundraising events**

If during the period of insurance you are due to take part in an event to raise funds for a registered charity, but cannot do so as a direct result of an unforeseen illness or injury, we will pay the registered charity the amount that your sponsors do not pay because you were unable to take part.

WE WILL PAY UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £10,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

A MEDICAL PRACTITIONER MUST CONFIRM YOUR ILLNESS OR INJURY TO US IN WRITING.

#### **Golf cover**

If during the period of insurance you are playing golf or taking part in an event at a golf club anywhere in the world, we will cover you for:

- damage you cause to a third person's property, regardless of legal liability, up to the amount insured for third party liability as stated in your schedule; and
- bar expenses you have to pay after hitting a hole-in-one at an official golf course. WE WILL PAY UP TO £5,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

IN ORDER FOR US TO PAY YOUR BAR EXPENSES, YOU MUST PROVIDE US WITH A LETTER FROM THE CLUB SECRETARY AND YOUR SCORECARD CONFIRMING YOUR HOLE-IN-ONE.

#### Irrecoverable court awards

If you:

 suffer injury (and resulting sickness, disease or death) or damage resulting from an incident which occurs during the period of insurance; and  commence legal proceedings to recover any resulting damages from a third party during the period of insurance,

we will cover any damages or costs you are awarded in a Judgment but do not receive.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £10,000,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF:

- THE INCIDENT RESULTING IN THE JUDGMENT DID NOT OCCUR IN THE COURSE OF ANY BUSINESS, PROFESSION OR OCCUPATION OTHER THAN HOME OFFICE BUSINESS AND INCIDENTAL FARMING;
- YOUR LIABILITY WOULD HAVE BEEN COVERED UNDER THIS SECTION IF YOU HAD CAUSED THE SAME INJURY (AND RESULTING SICKNESS, DISEASE AND DEATH) OR DAMAGE; AND
- YOU NOTIFY US THAT YOU INTEND TO COMMENCE PROCEEDINGS AND WE AGREE TO PROVIDE COVER IN RESPECT OF THOSE PROCEEDINGS;

#### YOUR LIABILITY: EXCLUSIONS

- THE JUDGMENT DEBT HAS
  BEEN OUTSTANDING FOR OVER
  3 MONTHS (OR WHERE THE
  JUDGMENT DEBT IS PAID IN
  INSTALMENTS, THE DEBTOR HAS
  FAILED TO MAKE A PAYMENT IN
  ACCORDANCE WITH THE COURT'S
  ORDER FOR OVER 3 MONTHS);
- THE JUDGMENT IS MADE BY
  ANY COURT OF LAW IN THE
  UNITED KINGDOM, MONACO,
  SWITZERLAND OR THE EUROPEAN
  UNION AND IN A PERSONAL
  CAPACITY FOR INJURY (AND
  RESULTING SICKNESS, DISEASE
  OR DEATH) OR DAMAGE; AND
- THE JUDGMENT IS NOT THE SUBJECT OF ANY PROCESS OF APPEAL.

IF YOU RECEIVE ANY DAMAGES OR COSTS AFTER WE HAVE PAID YOU FOR THEM, YOU MUST RETURN THE AMOUNT TO US

# Tenants, Neighbours & Landlords Liability

Where required by the national law ("Civil Code") of the country in which the property is situated;

We will indemnify you in respect of

Neighbours Liability - the financial consequences of the liability you may incur under any Civil Code for any property damage resulting from fire, explosion or water spreading from property belonging to you or for which you are responsible and which is insured under this policy.

Tenant's Liability - being the financial consequences of the liability which you may incur as a tenant in respect of property damage under any Civil Code.

Landlord's Liability - claims against you as landlord being the financial consequences of the liability incurred under any Civil Code by you for any property damage caused by fire, explosion or water caused to the property of any tenants as a result of constructional defects or lack of maintenance

In addition, we will pay any costs, expenses and legal fees incurred by you with our consent, arising from the cover provided by this clause.

The maximum amount we will pay under this Additional Clause is £20,000,000.

THE EXCLUSIONS LISTED BELOW APPLY TO THE WHOLE SECTION, UNLESS WE STATE OTHERWISE.

#### **ABUSE**

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING OUT OF ANY ACTUAL, ALLEGED OR THREATENED:

- PHYSICAL, MENTAL OR SEXUAL ABUSE; OR
- SEXUAL MISCONDUCT, HARASSMENT OR ABUSE.

#### AIRCRAFT

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING OUT OF OR IN RELATION TO ANY MANNED OR UNMANNED AIRCRAFT, INCLUDING DRONES.

#### **ANIMALS**

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING FROM ANY ANIMAL OTHER THAN INCIDENTAL FARMING LIVESTOCK OR YOUR PETS AND HORSES.

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY
ARISING FROM ANY DOG DEFINED
AS DANGEROUS UNDER THE ARTICLE
L. 211-12 (ARTICLE L. 211-11 OF
THE RURAL AND MARITIME FISHING
CODE) (AS AND WHEN AMENDED) OR
EQUIVALENT LEGISLATION.

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING OUT OF YOUR BUSINESS INTERESTS, INVESTMENTS (INCLUDING THOSE YOU MAKE FOR SOMEONE ELSE OR ON YOUR OWN BEHALF), OR ANY

**BUSINESS INTERESTS** 

OTHER ACTIVITIES INTENDED TO
GENERATE PROFIT, UNLESS COVER IS
PROVIDED UNDER YOUR LIABILITY AS
A DIRECTOR OR TRUSTEE (PAGE 31).

HOWEVER, UNLESS A DIFFERENT EXCLUSION APPLIES, WE WILL COVER YOUR LIABILITY, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING OUT OF:

- RENTING OUT A RESIDENCE (OR ANY PART OF THE RESIDENCE) LISTED IN YOUR SCHEDULE;
- YOUR HOME OFFICE BUSINESS OR INCIDENTAL FARMING; OR
- UNPAID VOLUNTARY WORK FOR A REGISTERED CHARITY OR A COMMUNITY OR RELIGIOUS GROUP.

#### **CONTRACTS**

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING FROM ANY CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT UNLESS SUCH LIABILITY WOULD HAVE EXISTED WITHOUT THE CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT. WHERE YOU ARE A LANDLORD, WE WILL COVER YOU IN RESPECT OF OCCUPIERS' LIABILITY.

#### **DEFENCE COSTS**

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS THAT YOU INCUR IN DEFENDING LEGAL CLAIMS WHICH, IF YOU WERE FOUND LIABLE, WOULD NOT BE COVERED UNDER THIS SECTION.

DISCRIMINATION
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS
ARISING OUT OF ACTUAL, ALLEGED
OR THREATENED DISCRIMINATION
OR HARASSMENT DUE TO AGE,
RACE, NATIONAL ORIGIN, COLOUR,
SEX, CREED, DISABILITY OR
SEXUAL PREFERENCE OR ANY
CHARACTERISTIC PROTECTED BY LAW.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS
ARISING FROM A GUARANTEE OF
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE WHICH
YOU HAVE PROVIDED.

#### **FINES**

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS FOR FINES OR PENALTIES, OR FOR PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

INJURY TO YOU OR YOUR EMPLOYEES WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS FOR INJURY TO YOU OR YOUR EMPLOYEES ARISING FROM THEIR WORK FOR YOU, EXCEPT WHERE COVERED UNDER DOMESTIC EMPLOYEES LIABILITY COVER (PAGE 28).

INTENTIONAL ACTS
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS
ARISING FROM ANY CRIMINAL,
INTENTIONAL, MALICIOUS OR
WILFUL ACTS OR OMISSIONS.

WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING FROM ACTS OR OMISSIONS WHICH A REASONABLE PERSON WOULD EXPECT TO CAUSE LOSS, UNLESS YOU ACTED REASONABLY IN PROTECTING ANY INDIVIDUAL OR PROPERTY.

#### **NORTH AMERICA**

WE DO NOT COVER YOUR LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING FROM ANY OCCURRENCE WHICH HAPPENS IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA OR CANADA IF YOU HAVE BEEN IN EITHER OR BOTH OF THOSE COUNTRIES FOR 90 DAYS OR MORE IN TOTAL DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS ARISING
FROM YOUR PERFORMANCE OF, OR
FAILURE TO PERFORM, PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES, OR FOR PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES FOR WHICH YOU ARE
LEGALLY RESPONSIBLE OR LICENSED.

PROPERTY IN YOUR CARE
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY,
LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR
COSTS ARISING FROM DAMAGE
TO PROPERTY BELONGING TO, OR
HELD IN TRUST BY, YOU OR IN YOUR
CUSTODY OR CONTROL.

UNLICENSED FIREARMS
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY,
LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR
COSTS ARISING OUT OF OWNING,
POSSESSING OR USING UNLICENSED
FIREARMS.

UNLISTED PROPERTY
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY,
LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR
COSTS ARISING OUT OF OWNING,
POSSESSING OR USING ANY LAND OR
BUILDINGS NOT IN YOUR SCHEDULE.

VEHICLES
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL
CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS
RELATING TO:

- MOTORISED VEHICLES OR
- WIND-POWERED LAND VEHICLES.

WATERCRAFT
WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY,
LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR
COSTS ARISING OUT OF OWNING,
POSSESSING OR USING (INCLUDING
LOADING AND UNLOADING):

- ANY WATERCRAFT WHICH
  IS MORE THAN 10 METRES
  LONG OR HAS MORE THAN 25
  HORSEPOWER;
- ANY WATERCRAFT WHICH IS LENT OR RENTED TO YOU FOR LONGER THAN 30 DAYS; OR
- JET SKIS, WET BIKES OR SURF-JETS.

WRONGFUL OR UNFAIR DISMISSAL WE DO NOT COVER LIABILITY, LEGAL CLAIMS, EXPENSES OR COSTS FOR LOSS ARISING OUT OF WRONGFUL OR UNFAIR DISMISSAL.

## Your property emergencies

We cover you in a number of emergency situations where we provide protection for you and your residence.

#### Defined terms used in this section buildings contents damage excess injury loss loss of hearing loss of limb loss of sight occurrence period of insurance pets policy residence schedule valuables we/us/our you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

#### This section:

- applies only to the residences listed in your schedule under Your buildings, Your contents and/or Your valuables;
   and
- is subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section and the applicable limits, but is not subject to any excess

# Alterations due to permanent disablement

If you suffer a loss of hearing, loss of limb or loss of sight as a result of illness or injury which first occurs during the period of insurance, we will pay towards the cost of making necessary alterations to structures within your residence so that you can live without assistance.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £250,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE. YOU WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY EXCESS.

WE WILL ONLY PROVIDE COVER IF WE AGREE SUCH ALTERATIONS BEFORE ANY WORK STARTS.

#### **Emergency access**

If you have to use force to gain access to a building at your residence because of an emergency (either a medical emergency and/or to protect either your contents or your buildings), we will pay the cost of repairs. The building does not need to be owned by you.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £25,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT.

THE EMERGENCY EVENT MUST HAPPEN DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### **Emergency power**

If a storm or flood leaves your residence without power for more than 6 hours, we

will reimburse you for the cost of hiring or buying a generator to supply backup electricity to maintain essential services.

WE WILL PAY UP TO £10,000 IN RESPECT OF EACH STORM OR FLOOD.

THE STORM OR FLOOD MUST HAPPEN DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### **Emergency preventative measures**

If you need to take practical, temporary measures to avoid or reduce loss covered by this policy arising from a storm or flood, we will reimburse the expenses you incur in taking such measures.

# WE WILL PAY UP TO £25,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### **Emergency precautionary repairs**

Following an occurrence covered by Your buildings, Your contents or Your valuables, we will pay for emergency repairs which you reasonably incur to protect your residence against further loss covered by this policy.

#### Emergency travel costs

If you need to make an urgent journey to the location of loss or damage covered by this policy to assist with police investigations; investigate the circumstances of the loss or damage, or take measures to prevent further loss or

damage, we will reimburse you for your travel expenses.

# WE WILL PAY UP TO £20,000 IN TOTAL FOR ALL CLAIMS IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### Living expenses

## Alternative accommodation due to loss or damage

If your residence is uninhabitable because of an occurrence (which is covered under this policy), we will reimburse you for living expenses to maintain your usual standard of living and which you incur.

We will continue to pay your living expenses:

- for the shortest amount of time required to make your residence habitable again; or
- until you permanently move somewhere else.

## YOU MUST AGREE ALL EXPENSES IN ADVANCE WITH US.

# Alternative accommodation due to forced evacuation

If you are unable to live in your residence because a local authority or emergency service prohibits you from doing so or tells you to leave, we will reimburse you for living expenses to maintain your usual standard of living.

WE WILL CONTINUE TO PAY YOUR LIVING EXPENSES UNTIL YOU ARE ALLOWED TO RETURN TO YOUR RESIDENCE UP TO A MAXIMUM OF 3 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF EVACUATION.

WE WILL ALSO PAY FOR ANY ESSENTIAL REPLACEMENT CONTENTS THAT YOU NEED TO BUY AS A RESULT OF FORCED EVACUATION, UP TO £25,000 IN TOTAL IN THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

The cover provided under Living expenses includes accommodation for your pets and horses.

YOU MUST AGREE ALL EXPENSES IN ADVANCE WITH US.

#### Nest removal

WE WILL PAY UP TO £10,000 FOR REMOVING NESTS FROM YOUR BUILDINGS DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE.

#### Rent

If you are a tenant and your residence is uninhabitable due to an occurrence which would have been covered under Your buildings (page 18) had it applied to that residence, we will pay for rent which you are liable to pay while your residence is uninhabitable

WE WILL CONTINUE TO PAY FOR RENT UP TO A MAXIMUM OF 3 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF THE OCCURRENCE.

WE WILL NOT PROVIDE THIS COVER IF WE ARE PAYING UNDER YOUR PROPERTY EMERGENCIES – LIVING EXPENSES (PAGE 31) IN RESPECT OF THE SAME OCCURRENCE.

#### Replacement locks

If the keys to one of the residences in your schedule are lost or stolen during the period of insurance, we will pay the cost of replacing the locks.

# Your personal emergencies

# We cover you when you need us in an emergency.

# accident amount insured buildings chauffeur close relation damage dangerous activity

Defined terms used in this section

loss of hearing

loss of sight loss of speech medical expenses

medical practitioner period of insurance

policy residence

excess

visitors

we/us/our you/your

See Definitions (page 12).

#### This section:

- applies automatically; and
- is subject to the General conditions (page 17), the General exclusions (page 15), the exclusions which apply to this section and the applicable limits, but is not subject to an excess.

#### **Accidental injury**

We will pay the amount stated in the benefits table to you (or your estate if you die) if, during the period of insurance, you sustain injury following an accident which within 2 years is the sole and independent cause of death or a disablement set out in the benefits table.

Death or injury suffered as the sole and independent cause of exposure to the elements shall be classed as injury following an accident, and the corresponding benefit under this sub-section will be paid, subject to all other applicable terms, conditions and exclusions.

The benefits table below shows which injuries are covered, and the amounts for which you are insured.

	AMOUNT INSURED
DEATH FOR ANYONE UNDER 16 YEARS OLD AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT, DEATH COVER IS LIMITED TO £25,000	£150,000
LOSS OF LIMB	£150,000
LOSS OF SIGHT	£150,000
LOSS OF SPEECH	£150,000
LOSS OF HEARING	£150,000

WE WILL ONLY PAY FOR INJURIES WHICH ARE THE DIRECT RESULT OF AN ACCIDENT.

IF YOU DISAPPEAR DURING THE PERIOD OF INSURANCE, AND AFTER A JUDICIAL DECLARATION AND ARE BELIEVED TO HAVE DIED FROM INJURIES FOLLOWING AN ACCIDENT, WE WILL PAY DEATH BENEFITS PROVIDED THAT YOUR NEXT OF KIN SIGN AN UNDERTAKING TO THE EFFECT THAT IF THIS TURNS OUT NOT TO BE TRUE, THEY WILL REFUND THE BENEFITS.

# ACCIDENTAL INJURY: EXCLUSIONS

ACTIVE SERVICE
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, YOUR
PARTICIPATION IN ACTIVE SERVICE IN
ANY ARMED FORCES OF ANY NATION.

DANGEROUS ACTIVITIES
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, YOUR
PARTICIPATION IN DANGEROUS
ACTIVITIES.

DEGENERATIVE PROCESSES
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY,
OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, NATURALLY
OCCURRING CONDITIONS OR
DEGENERATIVE PROCESSES.

EVENTS NOT ATTRIBUTABLE TO A
SINGLE ACCIDENT
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY,
OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, A SERIES
OF EVENTS WHICH CANNOT BE
WHOLLY ATTRIBUTED TO A SINGLE
ACCIDENT.

## FLYING AND OTHER AERIAL ACTIVITIES

WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, YOUR
PARTICIPATION IN FLYING OR OTHER
AERIAL ACTIVITIES, EXCEPT IF YOU
ARE A PASSENGER.

ILLNESS OR DISEASE
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, ILLNESS
OR DISEASE WHICH IS NOT THE
RESULT OF AN INJURY FOLLOWING
AN ACCIDENT

INFLUENCE OF DRUGS
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, THE
TAKING OR USING OF DRUGS
OR CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES,
UNLESS THEY ARE PRESCRIBED
BY A MEDICAL PRACTITIONER
AND TAKEN ACCORDING TO THEIR
INSTRUCTIONS.

PARTICIPATION IN SPORTS
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, YOUR
PARTICIPATION IN PROFESSIONAL
SPORT.

PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH OR MISCARRIAGE

WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY, PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH OR MISCARRIAGE.

PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY, OR CONTRIBUTED TO BY,
POST-TRAUMATIC STRESS DISORDER
OR ANY PSYCHOLOGICAL OR
PSYCHIATRIC CONDITION WHICH
DOES NOT RESULT FROM AN
ACCIDENT.

SUICIDE AND SELF-INFLICTED
INJURY
WE DO NOT COVER ANY BENEFIT
IN RESPECT OF DEATH OR INJURY
RESULTING FROM YOUR SUICIDE,
ATTEMPTED SUICIDE OR
SELF-INFLICTED INJURY.

TRAVELLING AGAINST MINISTÈRE DE L'EUROPE ET DES AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES ADVICE WE WILL NOT COVER:

- ANY CLAIMS ARISING FROM
   ANY JOURNEY IF YOU TRAVEL
   AGAINST THE ADVICE OF THE
   MINISTÈRE DE L'EUROPE ET
   DES AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES OR
   ANY GOVERNMENT, OR WHERE
   YOU DO NOT FOLLOW ANY
   ADVICE OR MEASURES PUT IN
   PLACE BY ANY GOVERNMENT
   OR LOCAL AUTHORITY, FOR
   EXAMPLE QUARANTINE RULES OR
   CURFEWS
- ANY CLAIM IF THE ADVICE OR MEASURES WERE IN PLACE OR HAD BEEN ANNOUNCED AT THE TIME YOU TOOK THIS POLICY OUT OR BOOKED YOUR JOURNEY (WHICHEVER IS LATER).

UNNECESSARY DANGER
WE WILL NOT PAY ANY BENEFIT WHICH
IS DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED
BY YOU PUTTING YOURSELF IN
UNNECESSARY DANGER, UNLESS YOU
ARE TRYING TO SAVE HUMAN LIFE.

#### **Emergency events**

We will pay for your expenses which are incurred by you as the sole and direct result of an emergency event listed to the right, as long as the emergency event occurs during the period of insurance.

The expenses you can claim, and the amounts insured, are given in the expenses table on the right.

#### Multiple events

Where multiple emergency events occur at the same time, we will pay those expenses applicable to the emergency event which provides the highest level of cover, but we will not pay under more than one emergency event.

EXPENSE	EMERGENCY EVENTS	AMOUNT INSURED
MEDICAL EXPENSES	AGGRAVATED ASSAULT	£50,000 FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL
	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING	UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £100,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
	AIR RAGE	
	CAR JACKING	
	ROAD RAGE	
	STALKING	
PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENTS PRESCRIBED BY A MEDICAL PRACTITIONER WITHIN 12 MONTHS OF THE EMERGENCY EVENT	AGGRAVATED ASSAULT	£50,000 FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL
	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING AIR RAGE	UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £100,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
	CAR JACKING	
	ROAD RAGE	
	STALKING	

SALARY LOST DURING THE IMMEDIATE 60 DAY PERIOD FROM THE EMERGENCY EVENT	AGGRAVATED ASSAULT AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING CAR JACKING STALKING	£50,000 FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £100,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
PERMANENT RELOCATION EXPENSES FOR MOVING PERMANENTLY AWAY FROM THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE EMERGENCY EVENT TOOK PLACE	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING STALKING	£25,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
PERSONAL SECURITY EXPENSES TO COVER THE COST OF IMPROVING SECURITY AT THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE EMERGENCY EVENT TOOK PLACE	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING STALKING	£25,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
RESIDENTIAL SECURITY EXPENSES TO COVER THE COST OF IMPROVING SECURITY AT THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE EMERGENCY EVENT TOOK PLACE	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING STALKING	£25,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
TEMPORARY RELOCATION EXPENSES TO TEMPORARILY MOVE AWAY FROM THE RESIDENCE WHERE THE EMERGENCY EVENT TOOK PLACE	AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND ENTERING STALKING	£25,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT

TRAVEL AND ACCOMMODATION EXPENSES FOR A FAMILY MEMBER TO STAY NEAR THE MEDICAL FACILITY WHERE SOMEONE IS RECEIVING MEDICAL TREATMENT UNDER THIS EMERGENCY EVENTS SECTION.	AIR RAGE CAR JACKING ROAD RAGE	£15,000 FOR EACH INDIVIDUAL  UP TO A MAXIMUM OF £30,000 FOR EACH EMERGENCY EVENT
---	--------------------------------	--

#### **Emergency events**

Emergency events for which we provide cover are defined below.

#### Aggravated assault

Aggravated assault is where an individual or group of individuals use violence or the threat of violence to unlawfully take your possessions while you are away from your residence.

#### Aggravated breaking and entering

Aggravated breaking and entering is where an individual or group of individuals enter your buildings or temporary residence unlawfully and use violence or the threat of violence against you or a visitor. Your visitors are also covered for aggravated breaking and entering.

#### Air rage

Air rage is where you are travelling as a passenger on a commercial aircraft and are subjected to an unprovoked violent, physical assault.

#### Carjacking

Car jacking is where you are travelling in a motor vehicle and an individual or group of individuals use violence or the threat of violence to unlawfully take (or attempt to take) the motor vehicle or the property inside it. Anyone travelling in the motor vehicle at the same time as you is also covered for car jacking.

#### Road rage

Road rage is where you and/or your chauffeur are subjected to a sudden unprovoked and violent physical attack while you and/or your chauffeur are travelling in a motor vehicle. Your chauffeur is also covered for road rage.

#### Stalking

Stalking is where someone commits a series of acts during the period of insurance which are intended to cause damage to your property, or to harass, injure or harm you.

We will only pay permanent relocation expenses and/or residential security expenses when incurred as the direct result of an Aggravated breaking and entering or Stalking which occurs during the period of insurance.

#### **EMERGENCY EVENTS: EXCLUSIONS**

EVENTS CAUSED BY YOU OR YOUR
CLOSE RELATIONS
WE WILL NOT COVER ANY EXPENSES
WHEN THE EMERGENCY EVENT IS
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY:

- YOU;
- A CLOSE RELATION;
- A FORMER CLOSE RELATION OR
- ANYONE WITH WHOM YOU
   HAVE ENGAGED IN A PERSONAL
   RELATIONSHIP.

EVENTS CAUSED BY INDIVIDUALS
KNOWN TO YOU
WE WILL NOT COVER ANY EXPENSES
UNDER AIR RAGE OR ROAD RAGE
WHEN THE EMERGENCY EVENT IS
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY
SOMEONE KNOWN TO YOU OR YOUR
CHAUFFEUR.

EVENTS CAUSED BY PEOPLE WHO
ARE NOT THE SUBJECT OF AN
INJUNCTION OR COURT ORDER
WE WILL NOT COVER ANY EXPENSES
UNDER STALKING WHEN THE
EMERGENCY EVENT IS DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY CAUSED BY SOMEONE
WHO IS NOT THE SUBJECT OF AN
INJUNCTION OR COURT ORDER
ISSUED TO PROTECT AN INDIVIDUAL.

PEOPLE ACTING ON YOUR BEHALF
WE WILL NOT COVER ANY EXPENSES
IN RESPECT OF AGGRAVATED
ASSAULT, AGGRAVATED BREAKING
AND ENTERING, CAR JACKING OR
STALKING WHEN THE EMERGENCY
EVENT IS DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
CAUSED BY ANYONE ACTING ON YOUR
BEHALF.

PERMANENT RELOCATION AFTER
6 MONTHS
WE WILL NOT COVER YOUR
PERMANENT RELOCATION EXPENSES
IF YOU MOVE MORE THAN 6 MONTHS
AFTER AN AGGRAVATED BREAKING
AND ENTERING, OR IF YOUR
RESIDENCE WAS FOR SALE WHEN
THE AGGRAVATED BREAKING AND
ENTERING TOOK PLACE.

EVENTS INVOLVING FEE PAYING
PASSENGERS
WE WILL NOT COVER EXPENSES
UNDER ROAD RAGE WHERE YOU
OWN THE MOTOR VEHICLE AND ARE
USING IT TO TRANSPORT PEOPLE OR
PROPERTY FOR A FEE AT THE TIME
OF THE EMERGENCY EVENT.

TRAVELLING AGAINST MINISTÈRE DE L'EUROPE ET DES AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES ADVICE WE WILL NOT COVER:

- ANY CLAIMS ARISING FROM
   ANY JOURNEY IF YOU TRAVEL
   AGAINST THE ADVICE OF THE
   MINISTÈRE DE L'EUROPE ET
   DES AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES OR
   ANY GOVERNMENT, OR WHERE
   YOU DO NOT FOLLOW ANY
   ADVICE OR MEASURES PUT IN
   PLACE BY ANY GOVERNMENT
   OR LOCAL AUTHORITY FOR
   EXAMPLE QUARANTINE RULES OR
   CURFEWS
- ANY CLAIM IF THE ADVICE OR
   MEASURES WERE IN PLACE OR
   HAD BEEN ANNOUNCED AT THE
   TIME YOU PURCHASED YOUR
   POLICY OR BOOKED YOUR
   JOURNEY (WHICHEVER IS LATER).

#### Natural disaster cover

#### a) Purpose of the insurance cover:

The purpose of this insurance is to provide the insured with financial compensation for direct non-insurable material damage to all the property covered by the contract when such damage was caused by the abnormal intensity of a natural agent, where customary measures to prevent such could not prevent their occurrence or could not be implemented.

# b) The application of the insurance cover:

The insurance cover can only apply after publication in the Official Journal of the French Republic of an interministerial decree stating that a natural disaster has occurred.

#### c) Scope of the insurance cover:

The insurance covers the cost of direct non-insurable material damage to property, up to the value fixed in the contract and within the limits and conditions provided for in the contract at the time of the first manifestation of the risk.

#### d) Deductible:

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, the insured shall retain part of the indemnity due after the loss. The insured is prohibited from taking out insurance for the portion of the risk constituted by the deductible.

FOR LAND MOTOR VEHICLES,
WHATEVER THEIR USE, THE AMOUNT
OF THE DEDUCTIBLE IS €380 FOR EACH
DAMAGED VEHICLE. HOWEVER, FOR
LAND MOTOR VEHICLES INTENDED FOR
PROFESSIONAL USE, THE DEDUCTIBLE
PROVIDED FOR IN THE CONTRACT WILL
APPLY, IF IT IS HIGHER.

FOR RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY
AND OTHER NON-PROFESSIONAL
PROPERTY, THE AMOUNT OF THE
DEDUCTIBLE IS FIXED AT EUR 380,
EXCEPT FOR DAMAGE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO DIFFERENTIAL LAND MOVEMENTS
RESULTING FROM DROUGHT AND/OR
SOIL REHYDRATION, FOR WHICH THE
AMOUNT OF THE DEDUCTIBLE IS FIXED
AT EUR 1 520.

**CONCERNING PROPERTY INTENDED** FOR PROFESSIONAL USE, THE **AMOUNT OF THE DEDUCTIBLE IS EOUAL TO 10% OF THE AMOUNT OF DIRECT NON-INSURABLE MATERIAL** DAMAGE SUFFERED BY THE INSURED. PER ESTABLISHMENT AND PER **EVENT, WITHOUT BEING LESS THAN** A MINIMUM OF EUR 1 140; EXCEPT FOR DAMAGE ATTRIBUTABLE TO **DIFFERENTIAL LAND MOVEMENTS RESULTING FROM DROUGHT AND/OR** SUDDEN REHYDRATION OF THE SOIL, FOR WHICH THIS MINIMUM IS SET AT **EUR 3 050. HOWEVER, THE DEDUCTIBLE** PROVIDED FOR IN THE CONTRACT WILL **BE APPLIED** if it is higher than these amounts.

For property other than motorised land vehicles, in a municipality that does not have a plan for the prevention of foreseeable natural risks for the risk that is the subject of a decree stating that a natural disaster has occurred, the deductible is adjusted according to the number of natural disasters that have occurred for the same risk during the five years preceding the date of the new declaration, in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

- First and second occurrence: application of the deductible;
- Third occurrence: doubling of the applicable deductible;
- Fourth occurrence: tripling of the applicable deductible;
- Fifth and subsequent occurrences: quadrupling of the applicable deductible.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph cease to apply as from the prescription of a plan for the prevention of foreseeable natural risks for the risk for which a state of natural disaster has been established in the municipality concerned. They resume their effects if the aforementioned plan is not approved within four years of the date of the order prescribing the natural risk prevention plan.

#### e) The obligations of the insured:

The insured must notify the insurer or his local representative of any claim likely to give rise to cover as soon as they become aware of it and no later than ten days following the publication of the interministerial order recording the state of natural disaster.

Where several insurance policies taken out by the insured may provide compensation for direct non-insurable material damage resulting from the abnormal intensity of a natural agent, the insured must, in the event of a claim and within the period mentioned in the previous paragraph, declare the existence of these insurance policies to the insurers concerned. Within the same time limit, he shall declare the claim to the insurer of his choice.

#### f) The obligations of the insurer:

The insurer must pay the indemnity due under the cover within three months of the date on which the insured submits the estimated state of the damaged property or the date of publication of the interministerial order recording the state of natural disaster, whichever is later. Failing this, and except in the case of force majeure or fortuitous event, the indemnity due by the insurer shall bear interest at the legal interest rate from the expiry of this period.

#### Terrorism cover

#### 1. Purpose of cover

The purpose of this guarantee is to cover the insured pursuant to the provisions of Articles L 126-2 of the French Insurance Code and their subsequent texts (including legislation):

# 1.1 Financial compensation for non-excluded/insured material damage as defined by

The conditions set out within this section — including decontamination costs — suffered by the insured property due to an attack or terrorism act as defined in the provisions of Articles 421-1 and 421-2 of the French Penal Code and sustained in the territory specified below.

#### 1.2 If cover for this damage is granted

Financial compensation for non-excluded/ insured material damage as defined by the conditions set out within this section — suffered by the property of third parties, as a result of non-excluded material damage caused by an insured property coming from an attack or terrorism act as defined in the provisions of Articles 421-1 and 421-2 of the French Penal Code, located in the territory specified below.

# ${\bf 1.3\,If\,cover\,for\,these\,costs\,and\,damage\,is}\\ {\bf granted}$

Financial compensation for the costs and damage - different from the decontamination costs covered in section 1.1 - as defined in the conditions set out within this section incurred by the insured following a loss as referred to in 1.1 above.

#### ${\bf 1.4\,If\,cover\,for\,operating\,losses\,is\,granted}$

Payment of compensation corresponding to the operating losses insured by the conditions set out within this section, suffered by the insured following a loss as referred to in 1.1 above.

It is also agreed that in case of a loss covered under the above section 1.1 to 1.4, the nuclear exclusion clause will not apply.

#### 2. Extent of cover

#### a) Compensation for material damage and consequential costs and damage provided for in 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 respectively above

This Policy covers the cost of material damage suffered by property and consequential costs and damage, up to the corresponding limits provided in the conditions set out within this section:

It is agreed that when a building should be decontaminated, the indemnity of the loss including the decontamination costs, could not exceed the insured value or the monetary value of the goods contaminated. The decontamination of the excavations and their confining are not part of this cover.

## b) Cover for compensation of operating losses provided in 1.4 above

This Policy covers the losses referred to in 1.4 within the corresponding limits set out in the conditions within this section.

#### 3. Premium

Cover is granted, per year of insurance, in consideration of the premium which includes the payment of the terrorism tax.

#### 4. Deductible

The insured shall remain responsible for a portion of the compensation payable after the loss, the amount of which is determined by French law or by its enforcement legislation or by the policy if permitted by said legislation.

#### 5. Territoriality

This cover only applies to property located in metropolitan France, the overseas departements, the overseas territories and Mayotte.

## Technological risks cover

This insurance policy covers direct loss or damage to property covered under Insured cover, caused by a technological disaster subject to the publication in the Official Journal of the French Republic of a ministerial order having recorded such technological disaster.

This insurance policy covers the complete repair of the damages sustained by the insured property up to the limit, for movable property, of the value declared. In the risk zones within the meaning of Article L. 515-16-I of the Environmental Code delimited by a plan for the prevention of technological risks, the insurer's obligation to provide cover does not apply:

- in respect of residential property and its contents, with the exception of property that existed prior to the publication of the plan;
- in respect of property built in violation of the administrative rules in force at the time of construction and intended to prevent damage caused by a technological disaster.

This cover only applies to property located in France.

Aviva Insurance Ireland Designated Activity Company, trading as Aviva, is regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. Our firm's reference number is No. C171485. A private company limited by shares. Registered in Ireland, No. 605769. Registered office: Cherrywood Business Park, Dublin, Ireland D18 W2P5. Registered UK Branch Address: 80 Fenchurch Street, London, EC3M 4AE. UK Branch authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Subject to regulation by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA reference No.827591) and limited regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Details about the extent of our regulation by the Prudential Regulation Authority are available from us on request.

